# UNIVERZITA PALACKÉHO V OLOMOUCI

Přírodovědecká fakulta Katedra biotechnologií



### Úloha NADPH oxidázy při tvorbě volných radikálů a modifikace proteinů

# DIPLOMOVÁ PRÁCE

Autor:	Bc. Eliška Průdková
Studijní program:	N0512A130007 Biotechnologie a genové inženýrství
Specializace:	Biotechnologie a genové inženýrství
Forma studia:	Prezenční
Vedoucí práce:	doc. Ankush Prasad, Ph.D.
Rok:	2024

# PALACKÝ UNIVERSITY IN OLOMOUC

Faculty of Science Department of Biotechnology



# Role of NADPH oxidase in free radical generation and protein modification

### **DIPLOMA THESIS**

Author:	Bc. Eliška Průdková
Study program:	N0512A130007 Biotechnology and Gene Engineering
Specialization:	Biotechnology and Gene Engineering
Form of study:	Full-time
Supervisor:	doc. Ankush Prasad, Ph.D.
Year:	2024

Prohlašuji, že jsem diplomovou práci vypracovala samostatně s vyznačením všech použitých pramenů a spoluautorství. Souhlasím se zveřejněním diplomové práce podle zákona č. 111/1998 Sb., o vysokých školách, ve znění pozdějších předpisů. Byla jsem seznámena s tím, že se na moji práci vztahují práva a povinnosti vyplývající ze zákona č. 121/2000 Sb., ve znění pozdějších předpisů.

V Olomouci dne.....

.....

I declare that I developed this diploma thesis separately showing all the sources and authorship. I agree with the publication of the thesis by Act no. 111/1998 Coll., about universities, as amended. I was aware of the rights and obligations arising from Act no. 121/2000 Coll., the Copyright Act, as amended, is applied to my work.

In Olomouc.....

#### Acknowledgments:

I would like to extend my heartfelt thanks, especially to my supervisor, doc. Ankush Prasad, Ph.D., and Dr. Renuka Manoharan, M.Sc., Ph.D., for the time, help, and support they provided throughout my experiments. Their professional guidance, patience, and dedication during the preparation of this thesis have been invaluable to me. I am also grateful to the members of the Department of Biophysics and the Department of Cell Biology, Faculty of Science, Palacký University, Olomouc.

#### Bibliografická identifikace

Jméno a příjmení autora	Bc. Eliška Průdková
Název práce	Úloha NADPH oxidázy při tvorbě volných radikálů a modifikace proteinů
Typ práce	Diplomová práce
Pracoviště	Katedra biofyziky
Vedoucí práce	doc. Ankush Prasad, Ph.D.
Rok obhajoby práce	2024

#### Abstrakt:

Monocyty hrají klíčovou roli v imunitním systému a jejich diferenciace v makrofágy je podstatným aspektem imunitní regulace. Nikotinamidadenindinukleotidfosfát (NADPH) oxidáza, známá také jako NOX, hraje klíčovou roli při tvorbě reaktivních forem kyslíku (ROS) z molekulárního kyslíku (O<sub>2</sub>), které mohou ovlivňovat polarizaci makrofágů. Cílem této studie je porozumět NADPH oxidáze a jejím izoformám v kontextu tvorby ROS a modifikací protein, a jejich vztahu k oxidačnímu stresu a patologickým procesům.

Zkoumali jsme tvorbu ROS a modifikace proteinů během diferenciace makrofágů vyvolané působením forbol-12-myristátu-13-acetátu (PMA) a kyseliny askorbové. PMA je dobře známý silný aktivátor proteinkinázy C (PKC) a kyselina askorbová, která je známým antioxidantem, má prooxidační schopnosti. Zjištěné morfologické změny a exprese NADPH oxidázy naznačují, že monocyty se mohou v reakci na zánět nebo diferenciaci přeměnit na makrofágy produkující ROS. Kromě polarizace monocytů na makrofágy jsme studovali expresi NOX2 během této přeměny a úroveň modifikace proteinů.

Klíčová slova	Buňky U-937, NADPH oxidázy, volné radikály,
	oxidativní stress, monocyty, makrofágy, konfokální
	laserová skenovací mikroskopie, malondialdehyd.
Počet stran	54
Počet příloh	1
Jazyk	Anglický

#### **Bibliographical identification**

Author's first name and surname	Bc. Eliška Průdková
Title	Role of the NADPH oxidase in free radical
	generation and protein modification
Type of thesis	Diploma thesis
Department	Department of Biophysics
Supervisor	doc. Ankush Prasad, Ph.D.
The year of the presentation	2024

#### Abstract

Monocytes play crucial roles in the immune system, and their differentiation into macrophages is a significant aspect of immune regulation. Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase, also known as NOX, plays a critical role in the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) from molecular oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>), which can influence macrophage polarization. The present study aims to comprehend NADPH oxidase and its isoforms in the context of ROS formation and protein modifications and their relationship with oxidative stress and pathological processes.

We investigated ROS generation and protein modifications during macrophage differentiation induced by Phorbol-12-Myristate-13-Acetate (PMA) and ascorbic acid (vitamin C). PMA is a well-known potent activator of protein kinase C (PKC), and ascorbic acid, being a well-known antioxidant, has been reported to possess pro-oxidant capabilities. The morphological changes and the expression of NADPH oxidase found suggest that monocytes can transform into ROS-producing macrophages in response to inflammation or differentiation. In addition to the polarization of monocytes to macrophages, we studied the expression of NOX2 during the transition and the level of protein modification during this transition.

Keywords	U-937 cells; NADPH oxidase, reactive oxygen
	species; oxidative stress; monocytes; macrophages,
	confocal laser scanning microscopy,
	malondialdehyde.
Number of pages	54
Number of appendices	1
Language	English

#### Aims of the Diploma thesis

- 1. Understanding NADPH oxidase and its isoforms, and its relation with reactive oxygen species/ free radical generation.
- 2. To learn human cell handling, protocol standardization, and use of different methodologies including but not limited to cell proliferation assay, protein isolation, SDS-PAGE, western blotting, etc.
- 3. Summarize reaction mechanism leading to the generation of reactive oxygen species and protein modification.
- 4. Evaluate the measured results and discuss them in relation to the literature.
- 5. Conclude the role of NADPH oxidase and its isoform in cells.

#### Contents

1 Introduction	11
2 Current state of the topic	13
2.1 NADPH oxidase	13
2.2 Isoforms of NADPH oxidases	13
2.3 NADPH activation leading to ROS generation	17
2.4 Human cell line U-937	18
2.5 Cell differentiation using chemical inducers	19
2.6 Free radicals	20
2.7 ROS in human cells	
2.7.1 ROS generation in mitochondria	21
2.7.2 ROS generation in peroxisomes	22
2.8 Types of ROS and mechanism of generation	23
2.8.1 Superoxide anion radical	23
2.6.2 Hydroxyl radical	23
2.8.3 Hydrogen peroxide	24
2.8.4 Hypochlorous acid	24
2.8.5 Singlet oxygen	24
2.8.6 Reactive nitrogen species	25
2.9 Oxidative stress	
2.10 ROS and human diseases	27
2.10.1 Cancer	
2.10.2 Cardiovascular disease	
2.10.3 Neurological disorders	29
2.10.4 Fibrotic diseases	29
2.10.5 Infectious diseases	
2.10.6 Chronic inflammation and autoimmune diseases	
2.10.7 Sensory impairments	31
3 Material and Methods	
3.1 Cell line and growing condition	31
3.2 Cell differentiation	
3.3 Trypan blue assay for determination of cell viability and proliferation	
3.4 MTT assay for cell viability	
3.5 Confocal laser scanning microscopy	
3.6 Isolation of cellular protein	
3.7 SDS-PAGE and western blotting	34

3.6.1 SDS-PAGE	34
3.6.2 Transferring of the proteins to membranes	34
3.6.3 Immunoblotting	35
4 Results	35
4.1 Cell viability measurement using Trypan blue exclusion test	35
4.2 Differentiation of U-937 cells	36
4.3 MTT assay	37
4.4 NOX2 expression during cell differentiation	
4.5 CD11b expression in non-differentiated and differentiated cells	39
4.6 Cell differentiation and protein modification	40
5 Discussion	42
6 Conclusion	44
7 Funding	44
8 References	44
9 Abbreviations	53
10. Appendix 1:	

11. Publication (co-authored)

#### **1** Introduction

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are small and highly reactive molecules derived from oxygen metabolism in living organisms. This group includes radicals like the superoxide anion radical ( $O_2^-$ ) and the hydroxyl radical (HO<sup>•</sup>), as well as non-radicals such as hydrochlorous acid and ozone. They have dual roles, acting as stressors implicated in various diseases, such as cardiovascular disease, while also serving as inflammatory mediators, eliminating microorganisms, and playing crucial roles in various physiological processes, including cell signaling, immune response, and regulation of gene expression. However, excessive ROS production can lead to oxidative stress, causing damage to cellular components such as proteins, lipids and DNA (Deoxyribonucleic acid), and contributing to the pathogenesis of numerous diseases (Bardaweel et al., 2018; Collin, 2019; Liu et al., 2023).

One of the main sources of ROS generation in cells is the Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate (NADPH) oxidase enzyme system. NADPH oxidases are multi-subunit protein complexes located in the plasma membrane and other cellular organelles. These enzymes catalyze the transfer of electrons from NADPH to molecular oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>), resulting in the production of O<sub>2</sub><sup>• –</sup> and other ROS. Understanding the structure and function of NADPH oxidase and its isoforms is essential for elucidating its role in ROS generation and cellular physiology. This includes exploring the various isoforms of NADPH oxidase and their distinct distribution patterns and expression levels in different tissues throughout the body. Additionally, studying the regulation of NADPH oxidase activity and its interaction with other cellular components provides insights into the mechanisms underlying ROS production.

To investigate the role of NADPH oxidase in ROS generation and its effects on cellular processes, it is imperative to employ a range of experimental techniques and methodologies. This includes mastering human cell handling techniques, standardizing experimental protocols, and utilizing diverse methodologies such as cell proliferation assays, protein isolation, sodium dodecyl-sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), Western blotting, and other biochemical assays.

Furthermore, elucidating the reaction mechanisms that lead to ROS generation and protein modification is crucial for understanding the molecular basis of oxidative stress-related diseases. By evaluating the measured results and comparing them with the existing literature, researchers can gain deeper insight into the physiological significance of NADPH oxidase and its isoforms in cellular redox homeostasis.

In this thesis, my aim is to investigate the role of NADPH oxidase and its isoform in ROS generation, as well as the consequent mediation of protein oxidation. By integrating experimental techniques with biochemical and molecular analysis, we seek to elucidate the complex interplay between NADPH oxidase activity and ROS production when cells are subjected to differentiation with chemical inducers such as phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA) and ascorbic acid. Through our research, our objective is to contribute to a better understanding of the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying oxidative stress-related diseases and to explore potential therapeutic strategies targeting NADPH oxidase. Furthermore, we address the dual role of ascorbic acid, where our data present a dose-dependent behavior (Ewald et al., 2017; Tarafdar and Pula, 2018; Vermot et al., 2021). The results obtained with ascorbic acid have been reffered as published article in the follow up texts and has been appended at the end of the thesis for reference.

# 2 Current state of the topic2.1 NADPH oxidase

The NADPH oxidase (NOX) enzymes are intricate multi-subunit protein complexes embedded in the cell membrane. Their primary role involves facilitating the transfer of electrons across the plasma membrane to  $O_2$ . This process leads to the production of  $O_2^{\bullet-}$  and, subsequently, the formation of ROS, including hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) and HO<sup>•</sup> (Figure 1) (Suh Y. et al., 1999; Bedard and Krause, 2007; Gao et al., 2012).



**Figure 1:** Scheme representing the resting and activated form of phagocytic NADPH oxidase and the reaction mechanism leading to ROS formation (created using biorender.com).

#### 2.2 Isoforms of NADPH oxidases

NOX2, originally named gp91<sup>phox</sup> during the investigation of respiratory bursts in neutrophils, was the first NOX enzyme to be identified. Subsequently, upon their discovery, other members of the NOX family were cloned (Suh Y. et al., 1999; Geiszt M., 2000; Tarafdar and Pula, 2018). Presently, the NOX family encompasses NOX1, NOX2, NOX3, NOX4, NOX5, DUOX1, and DUOX2 isoforms, according to the latest nomenclature. The seven NOX isoforms (Figure 2) exhibit conserved structural properties and functions (Bedard and Krause, 2007; Brown and Griendling, 2009; Magnani et al., 2017). These include a minimum of six transmembrane domains and cytosolic domains for the binding of flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) and NADPH (Van der Vliet A. et al., 2018; Tarafdar and Pula, 2018). Although the primary function of NOX enzymes is the generation of ROS, their activation mechanism can vary among different isoforms and the type of ROS. In their native state, NOX proteins exist as inactive monomers and rely on interactions with other proteins for their activation, maturation, stabilization, incorporation of heme groups, and translocation to the membrane or site of activity (Brown and Griendling, 2009; Brandes et al., 2014). NOX1 and NOX3 are considered the most closely related isoforms to phagocytic NADPH oxidase, showing a notable 60% sequence identity with NOX2. NOX1 predominates in various tissues, including the colon, prostate, uterus, and vascular cells (Suh et al., 1999; Bánfi et al., 2000; Krause, 2004). In contrast, NOX3 expression is predominantly observed in the inner ear, where it plays a significant role. In the cochlea, NOX3-mediated ROS production has been implicated in hearing loss (Rybak et al., 2012). Although NOX3 expression has also been detected in the brain and lungs, its precise functions in these tissues remain unclear (Cooney et al., 2013; Ruwanpura et al., 2013). Furthermore, similar to NOX2, both NOX1 and NOX3 undergo glycosylation *in vivo* (Nakano et al., 2007; Miyano and Sumimoto, 2014).

Under physiological conditions, the activation of NOX1 and NOX3 depends on the presence of the cytosolic factors NOXO1 and NOXA1, which have similarities to the p47<sup>phox</sup> and p67phox found in NOX2. However, the findings from *in vitro* studies suggest that p47<sup>phox</sup> and p67<sup>phox</sup> can effectively substitute for NOXO1 and NOXA1 during the assembly and activation processes of NOX1 and NOX3. This observation suggests that the interaction between various NOX isoforms and their assembly partners lacks complete specificity (Takeya et al., 2003; Cheng et al., 2004).

Unlike its counterparts, NOX4 exhibits constitutive activity. Although this baseline activity is believed to be modulated by the cellular positioning of NOX4, there have been indications of the involvement of activating agents such as protein disulfide isomerase or Polymerase- $\delta$  Interacting Protein 2. This proposition arose subsequent to the observation of these factors co-localizing with the NOX4/p22<sup>phox</sup> complex (Chen et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2010).

NOX5 has a core architecture similar to other isoforms, exhibiting 27% identity with NOX2, along with a unique N-terminal extension that houses four EF-hand motifs. Unlike other NOX isoforms, NOX5 shows different features, including Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent

activation, independent of  $p22^{phox}$  and cytosolic factors, and lack of glycosylation (Kiyohara et al., 2018).



**Figure 2:** NADPH oxidase isoforms. Despite their similar structural features and enzymatic functions, NOX family enzymes exhibit different activation mechanisms. NOX1 activation requires the presence of  $p22^{phox}$ , NOXO1, NOXA1 and the small GTPase Rac, while NOX2 requires  $p22^{phox}$ ,  $p47^{phox}$ , p67phox and Rac. NOX3 activation involves  $p22^{phox}$  and NOXO1, and depending on the species, may require NOXA1, with the participation of Rac being uncertain. NOX4 requires  $p22^{phox}$  for *in vivo* activity and shows constitutive activation. Activation of NOX5, DUOX1, and DUOX2 is mediated by Ca<sup>2+</sup> ions, with DUOX1 and DUOX2 necessitating association with maturation factors DUOXA1/DUOXA2 for activation (created using biorender.com).

The discovery of dual oxidases DUOX1 and DUOX2 followed the observation of NADPH and  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> production in thyroid cells (Dupuy et al., 1999). DUOXes share similarities with other NOX isoforms, featuring the NOX catalytic core akin to NOX1-4, and an EF-hand domain similar to NOX5, albeit with two EF motifs instead of four. In mammalian DUOX, the absence of histidines responsible for heme chelation is associated with a lack of intrinsic peroxidase activity, while *C. elegans* DUOX exhibits heme binding and demonstrates modest peroxidase activity (Meitzler and Ortiz, 2009). The glycosylation status of DUOX correlates with its maturation and the nature of its ROS product. NOX enzymes are expressed ubiquitously, yet their distribution patterns and expression levels vary across different tissues within the body (Ansari and Scheff, 2011). For example, NOX1 exhibits high expression levels in the colon, while NOX2 predominates in phagocytes. NOX3 is primarily found in the inner ear, NOX4 is abundant in the kidney and blood vessels, and NOX5 is prominent in lymphoid tissue and the testes. Additionally, DUOX1 and DUOX2 are predominantly expressed in the thyroid gland (Bánfi et al., 2001; Bedard and Krause, 2007; Altenhöfer et al., 2015).

For many years, ROS and their reaction products were believed to be just harmful by-products of aerobic metabolism that caused changes at the cellular and molecular levels. This view has been erroneously confirmed by the identification of enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase, and peroxidase that serve to eliminate these waste products. However, it was later shown that there is a family of enzymes whose function is to deliberately generate ROS (Babior et al., 2002).

In addition to its role in host defense and phagocyte function, extensive evidence provides a significant role for ROS in various cellular processes, including cell proliferation, apoptosis, angiogenesis, endocrine function, and oxidative modification of the extracellular matrix (Davalli et al., 2016) (Figure 3).



**Figure 3:** Scheme showing the subunits of the NADPH oxidase complex (NOX2) and the cellular or molecular pathways where its participation has been reported (created using biorender.com).

#### **2.3 NADPH activation leading to ROS generation**

Activation of phagocytic NOX is a consequence of various preceding cellular-level events. Tissue-resident macrophages play a pivotal role in the initial response to pathogenic microorganisms by detecting their presence and secreting pro-inflammatory chemoattractant at the infection site. This action triggers the extravasation of neutrophils from the vasculature, guiding them toward the inflammation epicenter through a chemoattractant gradient (Nguyen et al., 2017).

Antigen recognition on the leukocyte membrane involves various membrane receptors, including Toll-like receptor (TLR), C-type lectin receptor, macrophage mannose receptor, scavenger receptors, and opsins. These receptors facilitate direct interactions with microorganism-specific motifs, leading to activation of the immune response (DeLeo et al., 1999; Yang et al., 2012; Sameer and Nissar, 2021). Upon recognition of antigens, phagocytes initiate the engulfment of pathogens, setting off a signaling cascade that activates NOX2. This activation process involves the recruitment of multiple cytosolic partners to form the NOX2 complex, culminating in the release of bactericidal effectors into the phagosome to eliminate the pathogen (Rosales and Uribe-Querol, 2017).

NOX2 activation requires the assembly of a multiprotein complex through intricate inter-protein, protein-lipid, and interactions. intra-protein Phosphorylation-induced conformational changes unmask the autoinhibited tandem Src homology 3 domain of p47<sup>phox</sup>, enabling its translocation and binding to the Pattern recognition receptor region of p22<sup>phox</sup>. This interaction provides a scaffold p67<sup>phox</sup> p40<sup>phox</sup> for the assembly of in and the complex. Additionally, phosphorylation-induced conformational changes expose the phox homology domains of p47<sup>phox</sup> and p40<sup>phox</sup>, facilitating the anchoring of the trimeric p47<sup>phox</sup>-p67<sup>phox</sup>-p40<sup>phox</sup> complex to membrane phosphoinositides. In the presence of NADPH and Rac, this complex enables electron transfer and  $O_2^{-}$  production (Sumimoto, 2008; Herb, 2024).

*In vitro* studies have shown that an excess of the p67<sup>phox</sup> subunit, along with Rac, is necessary and sufficient for NOX2 catalytic activity. Interestingly, p47<sup>phox</sup> was found to be non-essential for activation in reconstituted systems (Koshkin et al., 1996; Freeman and Lambeth, 1996; Ueyama et al., 2007). This suggests that p47<sup>phox</sup> primarily serves an organizing role, facilitating the recruitment of different cytosolic partners to

the membrane. Knockout mouse studies have highlighted the essential role of Rac2 in optimal activation of the respiratory burst in neutrophils. Although both Rac1 and Rac2 can activate NOX2 to a similar extent in a cell-free system, Rac2 is required for efficient activation *in vivo* (Abo et al., 1991; Morgan and Liu, 2011; Dickinson and Chang, 2011).

Detailed biochemical and structural analysis of cytosolic factors and Rac protein interactions have led to the development of engineered proteins that mimic the assembly of the NOX complex. These chimeric fusion proteins, comprising specific domains from p47<sup>phox</sup>, p67<sup>phox</sup>, and Rac, serve as valuable tools for studying NOX assembly and activity in living cells (Alloul et al., 2001; Ebisu et al., 2001; Berdichevsky et al., 2007; Valenta et al., 2022).

Within a cell, ROS are generated within cellular compartments such as the cytosol, peroxisomes, and endoplasmic reticulum. However, mitochondria stand out as the primary site responsible for around 90% of ROS production. Within mitochondria, these ROS, known as mtROS, emerge as byproducts during adenosine triphosphate (ATP) via oxidative phosphorylation. Specifically,  $O_2^{\bullet-}$  is released by complexes I and III of the electron transport chain, later transforming into  $H_2O_2$  with the aid of mitochondrial SOD2 (Murphy, 2008). Historically viewed as accidental byproducts of aerobic metabolism, ROS have garnered significant attention in the past decade for their roles as mediators in both physiological and pathophysiological processes. Damage to mitochondria can result in oxidative stress and the formation of highly reactive HO<sup>•</sup> via the Fenton reaction. While mtROS are implicated in various neurological disorders, this thesis directs its focus on ROS generation by NADPH enzymes (Tarafdar and Pula, 2018).

Overproduction of ROS or their generation in inappropriate locations can cause oxidative distress, causing cell damage, tissue and organ malfunction, and ultimately contributing to the development of diseases (Liu et al., 2018).

#### 2.4 Human cell line U-937

The U-937 cells are derived from a human pro-monocytic myeloid leukemia cell line. They were isolated from the pleural fluid of a 37-year-old male with a histiocytic lymphoma in 1976 (Sundstrom and Nilsson, 1976). Pleural effusion can occur in various diseases, such as heart failure, different types of malignant tumors, kidney failure, or various inflammatory or infectious diseases. In the so-called pleural space, there is an accumulation of fluid in the space between the lungs and the chest wall (more precisely, between the visceral *pleura* and the *pleura parietalis*). This space is usually very small and contains only a tiny amount of fluid. Therefore, increasing this amount limits the extensibility of the lungs and manifests itself, among other things, as difficulty in breathing (Massimo and Yehuda, 2013; Jany and Welte, 2019).

The U-937 cell line exhibits several characteristic features of the resting human monocyte, including high levels of surface receptor expression and phagocytic function. From existing models of cancer cell lines that have been used to study the modulation associated with monocytes and macrophages during inflammatory diseases, U-937 cells are often examined and used for experiments (Suresh et al., 2017).

#### **2.5 Cell differentiation using chemical inducers**

The compound PMA (phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate) used in our study is a tumorpromoting phorbol ester, which can induce the differentiation of U-937 cells. It has been used to induce monocytic differentiation in U-937 cells *in vitro*. Many clinical studies have been conducted in which PMA has been used to study the expression of various cytokines, especially TH1-type cytokines, as well as in Toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling pathways (Valdés López and Urcuqui-Inchima, 2018; Kuno et al., 2020).

This compound was chosen as the chemical stimulant in this thesis. It works as an inducer slowing cell proliferation and triggering the process of differentiation. The PMA is also a tumor promoter and is involved in gene transcription, cell growth and programmed cell death, cell differentiation, immune pathway, and a decrease in receptor sensitivity via protein kinase C (PKC) signalling pathways. This chemical compound has been reported also to significantly increase the production of five cytokines without any significant damage to immune cells. However, it depends on the concentration and duration of exposure. The U-937 cells with PMA express higher levels of CD11b and PKC. Studies with U-937 cells have revealed that PKC is involved in regulating cell proliferation and differentiation, as well as in regulating cell death and apoptosis. The addition of PMA increases cell adherence and arrests the cell cycle after differentiation (Leontieva and Blagosklonny, 2014).

In addition to the well-known PMA as a potent activator of PKC that is commonly used to induce monocyte differentiation into macrophages *in vitro*, *the* active form of vitamin D3 ( $1\alpha$ ,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3) and retinoic acid have been shown to work in similar ways.

#### 2.6 Free radicals

Free radicals are species characterized by the presence of at least one unpaired electron in their outer shell. While they possess the capability of independent existence, their lifespan is typically short, ranging from nanoseconds to minutes, owing to their high reactivity. Radical species tend to interact with nearby stable molecules, seeking to acquire the missing electrons required for stabilization, thus initiating a chain reaction. These reactive species are involved in skin aging and inflammation, yet they also function as crucial regulators of homeostasis within the human body, including the proliferation of epidermal keratinocytes (Phaniendra et al., 2014; Jomová et al., 2023). Free radicals can arise through reduction, the predominant mechanism by which a neutral particle accepts an electron. Oxidation, which involves the loss of an electron, also contributes to their formation. A less common method involves homolytic cleavage of covalent bonds; however, this process is energetically demanding and therefore not prevalent in biological systems (Phaniendra et al., 2014).

In living organisms, numerous radical chain reactions occur continually. Besides radical species, non-radical species can also exist, and the classification is presented below. The imbalance resulting from ROS, reactive nitrogen species (RNS) production, coupled with inadequate antioxidant levels, leads to oxidative, nitrosative, and halogenation stress, consequently facilitating oxidative post-translational modifications of proteins (Stadtman and Levine, 2003; Wall et al., 2012a). To prevent biomolecules from oxidative damage, both enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant mechanisms are activated. Lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids undergo structural and functional changes as a result of oxidative damage caused by HO<sup>•</sup> when the concentration of ROS exceeds the antioxidant system's capacity (Halliwell and Gutteridge, 2015).

#### 2.7 ROS in human cells

Oxygen plays a crucial role in the sustenance of life for aerobic organisms, including humans. While approximately 95% of  $O_2$  is utilized for energy production, the residual 5% engenders the formation of highly reactive metabolites referred to as

ROS. These ROS encompass a spectrum of compounds, including oxidizing agents and substances prone to radical conversion (Halliwell and Whiteman, 2004; Murai and Matsuda, 2023).

Cell machinery, spanning various organelles such as the Golgi complex, mitochondria, peroxisomes, and the NADPH complex within the cell membrane, orchestrates the generation of ROS in animal cells. Any disruption in the delicate redox equilibrium of cells can cause damage to vital cellular components, including proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids (Phaniendra et al., 2014). Some of these cellular machineries are presented in more detail below.

#### 2.7.1 ROS generation in mitochondria

Mitochondria serve as a primary source of endogenous ROS due to their central role in the production of oxidative ATP production, where O<sub>2</sub> undergoes reduction to water in the electron transport chain. Radical molecules like O<sub>2</sub><sup>•</sup>-are generated at various sites within the mitochondria, including complex I (site IQ), complex III (site IIIQo), glycerol 3-phosphate dehydrogenase, pyruvate dehydrogenase, and 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase (Brand, 2010). These sites release  $O_2^{\bullet -}$  into the mitochondrial matrix, with complex III (site IIIQo) and glycerol 3-phosphate dehydrogenase also producing ROS in the intermembrane mitochondrial space. Manganese superoxide dismutase (Mn-SOD) converts  $O_2^{-}$  within the mitochondrial matrix, while copper and zinc superoxide dismutase (Cu- and Zn-SOD) perform this conversion in the intermembrane mitochondrial space or cytosol (Okado-Matsumoto and Fridovich, 2001). H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in the mitochondrial matrix can further react via the Fenton reaction catalyzed by mitochondrial aconitase, producing HO' (Vasquez-Vivar et al., 2000). Another source of ROS in mitochondria is the cytochrome (CYP) catalytic cycle, where CYP enzymes metabolize various organic substrates, yielding O<sub>2</sub><sup>•</sup>-and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> as by-products (Yasui et al., 2005). Several members of the CYP family are present in the mitochondrial membrane of steroidogenic organs, liver, and kidney (Omura, 2006). Furthermore, other mammalian proteins such as NADH-cytochrome b5 reductase, dihydroorotate dehydrogenase, complex II (succinate dehydrogenase), and monoamine oxidases have been identified as contributors to ROS generation within mitochondria (Whatley et al., 1998; Zhang et al., 1998; Kaludercic et al., 2014; Hey-Mogensen et al., 2014).

#### 2.7.2 ROS generation in peroxisomes

Peroxisomes play diverse roles in cellular metabolism, including the breakdown of fatty acids, purines, polyamines, and amino acids, as well as the regulation of ROS and RNS, and transition metal ions (Del Río and López-Huertas, 2016). They contribute to the cellular ROS and RNS pool by generating  $H_2O_2$ ,  $O_2^{\bullet-}$ , HO<sup>\bullet</sup>, NO<sup>\bullet</sup>, and peroxynitrite (ONOO<sup>-</sup>) (Di Meo et al., 2016). Initially recognized for their involvement in  $H_2O_2$  production and degradation, peroxisomes remain significant contributors to cellular  $H_2O_2$  levels despite containing catalase (CAT) (De Duve and Baudhuin, 1966; Boveris et al., 1972; Fritz et al., 2007).  $H_2O_2$  is formed during normal peroxisomal enzymatic reactions and through the dismutation of  $O_2^{\bullet-}$ , with potential to generate HO<sup>•</sup> via the Fenton reaction (Valko et al., 2005; Fransen et al., 2012).

Also,  $O_2^{\bullet-}$  is generated within peroxisomes both in the matrix and membrane. Enzymes like xanthine oxidoreductase and urate oxidase produce  $O_2^{\bullet-}$  and  $H_2O_2$  during purine metabolism, while the peroxisomal membrane's electron transport chain is another source (Sandalio et al., 1988; Gutteridge and Halliwell. 1992; Sandalio et al., 2013). Xanthine oxidoreductase additionally facilitates the conversion of nitrates and nitrites to NO<sup>•</sup> which can react with  $O_2^{\bullet-}$  to form ONOO<sup>-</sup> (Pacher et al., 2007).

To counteract oxidative stress, peroxisomes are equipped with antioxidant defenses, including enzymes like CAT, SOD, peroxiredoxins, glutathione S-transferases, and epoxide hydrolase 2, along with low-molecular weight antioxidants (Fransen et al., 2012; Sandalio et al., 2013; Del Río and López-Huertas, 2016).

Alterations in redox homeostasis contribute to the development and progression of cancer (Panieri and Santoro, 2016). The peroxisome maintains cellular oxidative balance. The alteration of the balance of its activity is associated with carcinogenesis. Reduced CAT activity has been shown to lead to ROS production, which, in turn, results in DNA damage and genomic instability that promote cancer development. Reduced CAT expression has been demonstrated in hepatocellular carcinoma and colon, lung, kidney, and prostate cancers, as well as in precancerous conditions (Lauer et al., 1999; Bostwick et al., 2000; Frederiks et al., 2009; Cho et al., 2014). Continuing the discussion on peroxisomes and mitochondrion, in the next section, we will dive into various ROS (Figure 4) generated within cells and explore the mechanisms underlying their production.

#### 2.8 Types of ROS and mechanism of generation



**Figure 4:** Reactive oxygen species in biological systems categorized as radical and non-radical species (created using biorender.com).

#### 2.8.1 Superoxide anion radical

The superoxide anion radical ( $O_2^{-}$ ) is formed by the one-electron reduction of  $O_2$ . It is the most abundant free oxygen radical in living organisms. It is produced during non-enzymatic reactions, by reducing oxygen by flavins, quinones, and thiols; and by the activity of several enzyme systems (for example, xanthine oxidase, lipoxygenase, and cyclooxygenase), as well as during the respiratory chain on the inner membrane of mitochondria and during photosynthesis in chloroplasts (Jomová et al., 2023; Andrés et al., 2023). It participates in reactions that can result in the production of additional reactive substances, such as the HO<sup>•</sup>,  $^1O_2$ , peroxynitrite, and perchloric acid. These processes can occur directly or more often, catalyzed by enzymes or transition metal ions (Valko et al., 2005).

#### 2.6.2 Hydroxyl radical

It is considered the most reactive ROS and therefore the most harmful. It can be formed by a variety of processes, the most significant of which is the so-called Fenton reaction, which occurs when  $H_2O_2$  reacts with metal ions. Because of its high reactivity, it normally interacts with molecules at incredibly fast speeds in the immediate vicinity of production. As a very strong oxidizing agent, it is able to react with most organic and inorganic molecules (Racek, 2003; Igarashi et al., 2022).

#### 2.8.3 Hydrogen peroxide

A molecule of  $H_2O_2$  is formed by the dismutation of  $O_2^{-}$ . In addition to SOD, it can be formed by catalases, glutathione peroxidases, and NADPH oxidases. It is not a free radical, but it has oxidizing properties. Compared to radical species, however, it oxidizes molecules slowly (Racek, 2003). Its danger lies mainly in its ability to undergo transformations to form much more reactive forms such as HO<sup>•</sup> or perchloric acid (Kohen and Nyska, 2002; Racek, 2003).

#### 2.8.4 Hypochlorous acid

It is produced by neutrophil granulocytes using the enzyme myeloperoxidase. This reaction is involved in the killing of bacteria by phagocytic cells (Splettstoesser and Schuff-Werner, 2002). Although hypochlorous acid is a potential oxidant and chlorinating agent, it does not fall into the category of radical species. It has the ability to attack a variety of compounds and contributes, for example, to the chlorination of cholesterol (Carr and Winterbourn, 1998).

#### 2.8.5 Singlet oxygen

The excited state of the dioxygen molecule is termed singlet oxygen ( $^{1}O_{2}$ ). It is highly reactive. Since it is involved in the oxidation of lipids, proteins and nucleic acids,  $^{1}O_{2}$  causes oxidative stress and has harmful and carcinogenic consequences. (Štípek, 2000; Agnez-Lima et al., 2012). In its fundamental state, O<sub>2</sub> possesses an open-shell electronic structure, housing two electrons of equal spin in distinct degenerate molecular orbitals. Its capacity to accept electrons during redox reactions is limited, engaging in slow reactions with most organic compounds. Oxygen exhibits two singlet multiplicity excited states, with the lower energy state designated as O<sub>2</sub>( $^{1}\Delta$ g) or  $^{1}O_{2}$ . In this state, electrons occupy the same orbital with opposite spins, enhancing its oxidative potential compared to O<sub>2</sub>. The subsequent singlet level, represented by O<sub>2</sub>( $^{1}\Sigma$ g<sup>+</sup>), is characterized by high energy and low stability, resulting in reduced reactivity. Singlet oxygen, which can be originated from the light-activated photosensitizer, is a potent oxidizing agent crucial in solution reactions, emitting phosphorescence in the infrared spectrum. Singlet oxygen's role extends to various oxidation reactions and biological processes, serving as an activated species. Direct excitation of the ground state to produce  ${}^{1}O_{2}$  is improbable due to spin, symmetry, and parity restrictions (María et al., 2024).

#### 2.8.6 Reactive nitrogen species

Reactive nitrogen species constitute a class of nitrogen-derived compounds that are crucial in biological processes. Chief among these is nitric oxide (NO<sup>•</sup>), typically generated through the enzymatic conversion of *L*-arginine by nitric oxide synthase (Wall et al., 2012b; Gonos et al., 2018). They encompass a diverse array of nitrogen-containing molecules, including NO<sup>•</sup> and its higher oxides such as dinitrogen trioxide (N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>), peroxynitrite (ONOO) and nitroxyl anion (NO<sup>-</sup>) which has been summarized in Figure 5 (Smulik et al., 2014).



Figure 5: Reactive nitrogen species in biological systems categorized as radical and non-radical species (created using biorender.com).

The imbalance between ROS and RNS and the antioxidant defense, in favor of pro-oxidants, causes oxidative or nitrosative stress, respectively, and facilitates post-translational oxidative modification of proteins or broad biomolecule oxidation (Sadowska-Bartosz et al., 2018). The resultant oxidative modifications adversely affect protein function, imparting multiple deleterious effects on cellular physiology. Accumulating evidence implicates oxidative protein modifications in age-related processes and the pathogenesis of various diseases, including atherosclerosis, neurodegenerative disorders, and cataracts (Sadowska-Bartosz et al., 2018; Vona et al. 2021).

#### **2.9 Oxidative stress**

Oxidative stress is a state that refers to a state of imbalance between the production and accumulation of ROS in cells or tissues. Its ratio is determined by a biological system's capacity to detoxify reactive intermediates. These ROS have a variety of physiological functions and can affect the general health of cells or organisms in either a positive or negative way. Enzymes and small molecules, known as antioxidants, interact with individual ROS to decrease oxidative damage and/or modify redox signalling in living

organisms (Halliwell and Gutteridge, 2015; Sies et al., 2022). There are several antioxidants, both enzymatic and non-enzymatic, that can be used by cells as a defense against ROS or free radicals in general (Sharma et al., 2012). However, each antioxidant has a unique specificity and reacts with different types of ROS. Enzymatic systems including SOD for O2<sup>•</sup>, peroxidases for H2O2, and metal ion sequestration are also important in vivo antioxidants (Halliwell and Gutteridge, 2015; Halliwell et al., 2020). Most low-molecular-mass substances used as "antioxidants" are stoichiometric scavengers of specific ROS and frequently exhibit minimal or no reactivity with O2<sup>•-</sup> or H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. N-acetylcysteine, for instance, is a popular "antioxidant" but it also has other mechanisms of action. Some ROS, most notably H2O2, cannot be scavenged by N-acetylcysteine in vitro (Jomová et al., 2023). Additionally, it can produce hydrogen sulfide, raise levels of glutathione, and directly break protein disulphides by expanding the cellular cysteine pool (Pedre et al., 2021). In vivo, low-molecular-mass substances such as vitamin E, which scavenges lipid peroxyl radicals, do function as antioxidants. The SOD, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase are examples of enzyme-based antioxidants, whereas vitamins E, C, and pyridoxine (B6); flavonoids, and polyphenols are examples of non-enzymatic antioxidants (Murphy et al., 2022). According to Joseph et al. (2015), oxidative stress contributes to the emergence of diseases such as cancer, Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, atherosclerosis, heart failure, myocardial infarction, fragile X syndrome, vitiligo, autism, infection, depression, and possibly Asperger syndrome in humans (Stewart et al., 2006). However, because ROS may target and eliminate infections and are also utilized as a therapeutic strategy to treat cancer, they can be useful (Tönnies and Trushina, 2017).

#### 2.10 ROS and human diseases

ROS play a significant role in various pathologies, with many of these diseases ranking among the leading causes of mortality. There is compelling evidence indicating the involvement of ROS in cancers, cardiovascular diseases, neurological disorders, fibrotic diseases, infectious diseases, chronic inflammation, autoimmune diseases and sensory impairments (Figure 6).



**Figure 6:** A summary of human diseases where reactive oxygen species (ROS) are implicated (created using biorender.com).

#### 2.10.1 Cancer

DNA damage caused by ROS is a key factor in the initiation and progression of cancer. ROS-induced DNA mutations base alterations, encompass DNA sequence rearrangements, DNA lesions, gene duplications, and oncogene activation of oncogenes (Waris and Ahsan, 2006). In addition to contributing to cancer development through oncogenic mutations, ROS dysregulation also plays a role, as observed in renal cell carcinoma. This condition is characterized by inappropriate upregulation of hypoxia response genes. Elevated levels of the hypoxia-inducible transcription factor (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) promote tumor growth, angiogenesis, and metastasis (Liao et al., 2007). The heightened HIF-1 $\alpha$  levels in these tumors are partly attributed to the loss of the von Hippel-Lindau protein, which typically facilitates HIF-1α degradation.

#### 2.10.2 Cardiovascular disease

Reactive oxygen species play a central role in numerous cardiovascular diseases, and the underlying causal mechanisms are complex. Vascular cells exhibit the concurrent expression of multiple NOX enzymes, and alterations in the expression of NOX1, 2, 4, and 5 have been linked to various cardiovascular conditions. In vascular smooth muscle cells sourced from large arteries, NOX1 is essential for processes such as migration, hypertrophy, and proliferation, while NOX4 facilitates differentiation. Furthermore,

NOX1 and 2 have been implicated in the pathogenesis of hypertension (Brieger et al., 2012).

#### 2.10.3 Neurological disorders

Neurological diseases advance through complex pathways, and the expression of the NOX enzyme in microglia cells emerge as a pivotal factor. Beyond microglia, other brain cells, such as astrocytes and neurons, also contribute to ROS generation through various mechanisms. Although low levels of ROS are crucial for normal brain function, excessive levels can induce neurotoxicity and disease onset. In Alzheimer's disease, a cascade of neuroinflammatory events exacerbates neurodegeneration and dementia. Microglia activation, particularly triggered by soluble amyloid forms, perpetuates ROS production, leading to neuronal damage and eventual cognitive decline. Similarly, Parkinson's disease pathogenesis involves NOX-derived oxidative stress, which contributes to the death of dopaminergic neurons. In particular, studies hint at NOX2 involvement in this process, evident in models such as MPTP-induced (1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine) neurotoxicity where NOX2 deficiency mitigates dopaminergic neuron loss. Furthermore, oxidative stress stands central in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), a progressive motor neuron disorder. Understanding the multifaceted role of ROS in neurodegenerative diseases underscores the therapeutic potential of targeting NOX enzymes to alleviate oxidative stress-induced neuronal injury (Sorce and Krause, 2009).

#### 2.10.4 Fibrotic diseases

Many chronic inflammatory conditions involve fibrosis, a pathological process characterized by excessive accumulation of components of the extracellular matrix that lead to scarring. This fibrotic progression can ultimately result in organ dysfunction and, in severe cases, death. Fibrosis affects virtually all tissues in the body and is closely associated with chronic inflammation, metabolic balance, and the signaling pathway of transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1. The delicate balance between the oxidant and antioxidant systems plays a crucial role in regulating these processes. Fibrosis can affect various organ systems, including the lungs, heart, kidneys, and liver, leading to an abnormal buildup of connective tissue components. This tissue remodeling often results in organ dysfunction, contributing to high rates of morbidity and mortality (Antar et al., 2023).

#### 2.10.5 Infectious diseases

Normal immune function relies on specific oxidative states, and ROS playing essential roles in microbial killing, regulating the immune response, and terminating inflammation. Evidence of ROS involvement in immune function is observed in patients with chronic granulomatous disease (CGD), who lack the ROS-producing enzyme NOX2. This deficiency leads to immunodeficiency, resulting in recurrent infections such as pneumonia and abscesses. Phagocytes from patients with CGD do not generate ROS upon stimulation, hindering their ability to efficiently kill bacteria. Hypochlorous acid, a potent microbial killer, is produced from  $H_2O_2$  and chloride ions by myeloperoxidase. While ROS play a crucial role in the combat of bacterial, fungal, and microbial infections, their role in viral protection remains unclear (Mauch et al., 2007; Brieger et al., 2012).

Reactive oxygen species not only contribute to host defense, but also paradoxically limit inflammation and the immune response. Patients with CGD often exhibit non-infectious hyperinflammatory conditions such as granulomas and colitis, and autoimmune diseases are more prevalent in both CGD patients and heterozygous carriers of CGD mutations. Surprisingly, NOX2 deficiency-induced hyperinflammation may sometimes confer protection, as observed in CGD mice showing increased inflammation protecting against influenza infection. Further research is needed to elucidate the complex interplay between NOX2-dependent ROS generation and inflammation (Snelgrove et al., 2006; Schäppi et al., 2008; Tschopp, 2011).

#### 2.10.6 Chronic inflammation and autoimmune diseases

The role of oxidative stress in the development of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is significant. Staroń and co-workers conducted an analysis comparing erythrocytes from RA patients to those from healthy individuals, revealing elevated lipid peroxidation, reduced activity of antioxidant enzymes, and impaired sodium-potassium ATPase function (Staroń et al., 2012). In the synovial cavity, Mapp and co-workers observed an increased presence of ROS, leading to the oxidation of various molecules, including immunoglobulins, particularly IgM targeting the fragment crystallizable (Fc) region of IgG (known as rheumatoid factor), lipoproteins, lipids, and hyaluronan (Mapp et al., 1995). Oxidatively damaged immunoglobulins are more susceptible to non-enzymatic degradation by sugars, particularly at arginine and lysine residues, resulting in the formation of advanced glycation end products (Hitchon and El-Gabalawy, 2004), akin to processes seen in diabetes mellitus where prolonged hyperglycemia glycoxidates hemoglobin

into hemoglobin A1c. In particular, antibodies against glycoxidized IgG are specifically detected in patients with early synovitis (Newkirk et al., 2003). Furthermore, increased ROS levels contribute to damage to the DNA mismatch repair system, which is known to be impaired in RA, leading to elevated concentrations of 8-oxo-7-hydro-deoxyguanosine (Hitchon and El-Gabalawy, 2004).

#### 2.10.7 Sensory impairments

Several age-related ocular diseases, including cataracts and retinal degeneration, are believed to be linked to oxidative stress. Similarly, age-related hearing loss is hypothesized to be the result of ROS activity. In particular, NOX3 exhibits significant expression levels in the inner ear, where it contributes to the biogenesis of otoliths, critical structures involved in gravity perception. However, emerging evidence suggests a potential association between increased NOX3 activity and hearing impairment. Specifically, cisplatin-induced ototoxicity has been linked to excessive activation of NOX3. These findings underscore the intricate interplay between ROS and auditory function, warranting further investigation into the role of NOX3 in hearing-related disorders (Ueno et al., 2007).

#### **3 Material and Methods**

#### **3.1 Cell line and growing condition**

The U-937 cell line used in my study is derived from the pro-monocytic myeloid leukemia cell line. It was identified and isolated from the pleural fluid of an adult male (Sundström and Nilsson, 1976). This line exhibits many characteristics like monocytes. The line was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC; Rockville, MD, USA). Since it is a human cell line, it was grown in an incubator at 37 °C and 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> saturation. RPMI-1640 with the addition of FBS is considered the optimal culture medium. These conditions stimulate the internal conditions of the human body.

#### **3.2 Cell differentiation**

Differentiation inducers, phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) at 250 nM (a lightsensitive chemical compound) and ascorbic acid at concentrations ranging from 0 to 10  $\mu$ M and were used in this study. Cultures were seeded with a total of 1x10<sup>6</sup> colony-forming units (CFU)/mL of live cells and incubated for 72 h to allow differentiation processes to occur. Ascorbic acid, a well-known antioxidant, was dissolved in an extracellular buffer comprising HEPES (15 mM), NaCl (135 mM), KCl (5 mM), CaCl<sub>2</sub> (1.8 mM), and MgCl<sub>2</sub> (0.8 mM), adjusted to pH 7.4 to maintain optimal conditions for cell culture. This carefully prepared medium ensured the stability of ascorbic acid and facilitated its interaction with the cells under investigation.

# **3.3 Trypan blue assay for determination of cell viability and proliferation**

Cell viability and proliferation were determined using the automated cell counter (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, United States). To assess cell viability and proliferation, a pipetted volume of 10  $\mu$ l of cell suspension was mixed with an equal volume of trypan blue (the final concentration of trypan blue was 0.05%) in an Eppendorf tube. The mixture was then loaded onto a counting slide, which is a dual chamber designed for cell counting. The use of trypan blue dye with the TC20 counter facilitates rapid staining and accurate determination of cell viability and proliferation. This dye is crucial for distinguishing between living and dead cells in a cell suspension. Due to its negatively charged chromophore, trypan blue does not permeate the intact membranes of viable cells. Instead, it selectively enters damaged or dead cells, staining them blue, while live cells with intact membranes remain unstained and appear bright. Viability is deemed acceptable for our experimentation if it is equal to or exceeds 70%. Based on the ratio of live (unstained) and death cells (blue stained), we can estimate the level of cell proliferation. A higher ratio of live cells indicates a higher level of proliferation, while a lower ratio may indicate a lower level of proliferation or even cell death.

#### 3.4 MTT assay for cell viability

3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) is converted into a purple-coloured formazan product by viable cells with active metabolism which shows an absorbance maximum at 590 nm. As cells undergo cell death, their capacity to convert MTT into formazan diminishes, making color formation a reliable indicator of cell viability. In this diploma thesis, cell viability was assessed through two methods: measuring the metabolism of a tetrazolium substrate MTT and using trypan blue staining. The influence of PMA dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) and ascorbic acid dissolved in EB on U-937 cell proliferation was evaluated by using the MTT assay, following the protocol outlined in the Cell Proliferation Assay Kit (ab211091) and trypan blue staining. U-937 cells were seeded in replicates (n=3) and cultured with 250 nM concentrations of PMA/ ascorbic acid for 72 hours at 37 ° C. After this incubation period, we measured viability using the trypan blue test. Cells were centrifuged at 2,500 rpm at 4° C for 5 min. The culture medium was then carefully aspirated and 50  $\mu$ L serum-free medium and 50  $\mu$ L of MTT reagent were added to each well, followed by a three-hour incubation at 37° C. To prevent damage to cells with formazan crystals after incubation, MTT solvent was added to each well for solubilization of crystals. The 96-well plate was placed on a shaker for 15 minutes. The absorbance of the samples was then read at 590 nm.

#### 3.5 Confocal laser scanning microscopy

To visualize U-937 cells on glass slides, a Fluorview 1000 confocal unit connected to the IX80 microscope (Olympus Czech Group, Prague, Czech Republic) or Andor BC43 benchtop confocal microscope (Oxford Instruments, Belfast, Ireland) was used. Cell membrane integrity presented in Article 1 (Figure 2) was monitored by staining with FM4-64 [15 µM, at room temperature (RT)], a lipophilic dye, while Hoechst 33342 (2 µM, RT) was utilized to visualize the nucleus under the specified experimental conditions (please refer to Section 2.5 of published article). The cells underwent co-staining with FM4-64 and Hoechst 33342 (Sigma Aldrich GmbH, Germany), and after a 5 min incubation, were transferred to a glass slide for visualization. For the immunohistochemical analysis (CD11b) presented in Article 1, after treatment with 5 µM and 10 µM ascorbic acid for 48 hours, the culture medium was removed from the plates and 3.5 % paraformaldehyde was applied for cell fixation for 30 min. Subsequently, the cells were washed three times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing 0.1 % Tween-20 (PBST) for 5 min each. After fixation, cells were blocked with 0.5 % BSA in PBS for 30 min at RT. The blocked samples were then probed with CD11b Monoclonal Antibody-FITC (dilution 1:2500) for 60 min at RT, followed by washes with PBS (3x, 5 min each). Immunofluorescence was measured using excitation achieved by a 488 nm line of an argon laser and the signal was detected by a 505–550 nm emission filter.

#### 3.6 Isolation of cellular protein

The cell pellet was resuspended in 200  $\mu$ L of RIPA buffer [150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris (pH 8.0), 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 1% NP-40] supplemented with 1% proteinase and phosphatase inhibitors, and kept on ice for 5 min. Subsequently, the suspension was subjected to sonication at 40% amplitude for 1 cycle of 30 seconds,

repeated 6 times, with cells transferred to ice after each cycle to prevent protein damage and degradation. After sonication, the sample was centrifuged at 19,000 rpm for 30 min at 4°C, leading the cell debris pellet to the bottom of the tube. Cautiously, the protein-containing supernatant was collected into a separate tube without disturbing the pellets. This process ensured the isolation of intact proteins for further analysis.

#### **3.7 SDS-PAGE and western blotting**

SDS-PAGE and western blotting are methodologies used to separate and identify proteins. It is often used to detect the presence of a particular protein in a sample. The technique involves running samples of proteins on an electrophoresis gel, which separates proteins based on size and charge. After the proteins have been separated, they are transferred to a membrane [either nitrocellulose or polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes]. Antibodies specific to the target protein are then used to detect its presence. The target protein will bind to the antibody and can be visualized using specific detection methods, such as colorimetric or chemiluminescent reactions, which we have also used in our investigation.

#### 3.6.1 SDS-PAGE

The isolated protein in an amount of 10  $\mu$ g was mixed with 5x Laemmli sample buffer and dithiothreitol (DTT, 100 mM) in an eppendorf tube and then incubated at 70° C for 10 min. After this incubation, the samples were centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 5 min. The protein samples were then loaded and isolated on 10% 1mm thick polyacrylamide gels (4% stacking gel and 10% resolving gel). For the visualization of molecular weight of proteins, a pre-stained protein ladder [Proteintech (PL00001)] was also used along with protein samples.

#### 3.6.2 Transferring of the proteins to membranes

After electrophoresis, the proteins were transferred from gel to membranes. In experiments in which a PVDF membrane was used, it was charged with methanol. Transfer was achieved using the Trans-Blot Turbo transfer system (Bio-Rad, California, USA). The transfer duration lasted 7-30 min depending on experiments. For confirmation of proper protein transfer and to ensure that the loading of samples is uniform, Ponceau staining was performed where the membranes were incubated with Ponceau stain for 5 min, followed by washing with d/w, and then scanned on Amersham imager 600.

#### 3.6.3 Immunoblotting

The membranes were blocked with blocking reagent containing 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS (pH 7.4) and 0.1 % Tween 20 (2 h in RT or overnight at 4 °C). The blocking solution was then removed, and the desired primary antibody [anti-NOX2 mice polyclonal antibody or rabbit polyclonal anti-malondialdehyde (anti-MDA) antibody] was added for 1-2 h. During this incubation, the membranes were placed on a shaker at RT. After incubation with primary antibody, membranes were washed with PBS mixed with 0.1 % Tween 20 for 30 min. Every 10 min, the washing solution was discarded and replaced with fresh one. Following this step, the membranes were incubated with secondary antibody [HRP-conjugated goat anti-mice secondary antibody for anti-NOX2 and horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated antirabbit secondary antibody for anti-MDA] for 1-2 h (dilution 1:10000). The washing steps mentioned above were repeated. When washing was done, secondary antibodies were discarded and Immobilon Western Chemiluminescent HRP (Horseradish peroxidase) substrate (Sigma Aldrich, GmbH, Germany) (GE Healthcare, UK) was added to the membranes right before scanning on Amersham imager 600 (GE Healthcare, United Kingdom).

#### **4 Results**

#### 4.1 Cell viability measurement using Trypan blue exclusion test

In this study, we conducted a comprehensive quantitative assessment of viable cells within the U-937 cell line following exposure to PMA and variable concentrations of ascorbic acid. To ascertain cell viability, the widely employed trypan blue exclusion assay was employed. U-937 cells were subjected to treatment with optimized concentrations based on pilot experiments with PMA (250nM) and ascorbic acid (0-10  $\mu$ M). This approach not only offers insights into the impact of chemicals on cell viability but also provides a dynamic assessment of the recovery and resilience of U-937 cells during the post-treatment phase (Figure 7; Fig. 3 of published article). We also followed the U-937 cell viability for 10 days to determine at which stage of growth it would be best to perform the experiments. (Figure 8).



**Figure 7:** Percentage viability using trypan blue showing live and dead U-937 cells, measured before and after differentiation (250 nM PMA). the same time.



**Figure 8:** Growth curve of total count (A) and live count (B) of the cells U-937, measured for 10 consecutive days in T-75 flasks. The data points were collected each day at the same time.

#### 4.2 Differentiation of U-937 cells

Visual changes in cellular morphology were meticulously monitored 72 h after the addition of PMA and ascorbic acid using a confocal laser scanning microscope. The dynamic alterations in cell morphology became notably apparent after a 72 h

incubation period. For visualization of cellular morphology, a combination of fluorescent dyes, specifically FM4-64, a lipophilic styryl compound and Hoechst 33342, were used. These dyes are valuable indicators for assessing cell membrane integrity and nuclear structure. The differentiated U-937 cells exhibited distinctive extensions, adopting an amoeboid morphology (Figure 9). Before treatment, the cells displayed a characteristic clear and spherical structure. However, post-treatment, substantial morphological transformations were evident, manifesting as prominent pseudopodia. In particular, the incidence of these pseudopodia was found to increase in cell treated either with PMA or ascorbic acid. In contrast, at higher concentrations of ascorbic acid (10  $\mu$ M), a reduction was observed in these distinctive morphological structures (Figure 2, published article). This intriguing change in cell morphology at elevated concentrations suggested a complex dose-dependent relationship between exposure to ascorbic acid and the phenotypic changes in U-937 cells. These findings underscore the importance of not only characterizing morphological alterations, but also discerning the nuances of concentration-dependent effects, thus providing a more comprehensive understanding of the impact of ascorbic acid on the cellular dynamics of U-937 cells.



**Figure 9:** Control cells in the absence (A) and presence of 250nM PMA. The cells were grown for 72 h.

#### 4.3 MTT assay

The MTT assay was used to measure cell viability and cytotoxicity of the chemicals used.

Absorbance was measured after 3 h of incubation at 37 °C with MTT. According to the results, the cytotoxicity of the chemicals used could not be calculated as the tested cells showed unexpectedly higher absorbance compared to the control cells.

Background	Control (-PMA)	Test (+ PMA)
0.071	0.596	0.884
0.064	0.625	0.881
Ø = 0.068	Ø = 0.611	Ø = 0.883

**Table 1:** The background sample contains serum-free medium and MTT reagents; control sample consisted of cells in serum-free medium and MTT reagents while the test sample was 72 h PMA differentiated cells in serum-free medium and MTT reagent. The absorbance was recorded at 590 nm.

The MTT analysis showed a higher absorbance in the tested cells. According to the literature, the method is used as a simple test of cell viability. Thus, its applicability and limitations should be more considered. Since our results were opposite to those expected, it can be assumed that the test cells took up more reagent or their metabolic activity was higher than that of the control cells (Ghasemi et al., 2021). The viability of the cells tested was 45% higher than the control cells according to the MTT assay.

#### 4.4 NOX2 expression during cell differentiation

We utilized Western blot analysis to assess the levels of NADPH oxidases (particularly NOX2). Our findings indicate a subtle increase in NADPH oxidase expression (Figure 10). Specifically, there's a noticeable enhancement in band intensity around 65 kDa. Intriguingly, treated samples exhibit a significant enhancement in band intensity around 42 kDa. This suggests a potential avenue for exploration; perhaps post-translational modifications could be playing a role in this observed phenomenon.

Upon exposure to PMA, U-937 cells undergo a complex cascade of signaling events, orchestrated by activation of PKC. This activation, in turn, triggers downstream pathways associated with cell differentiation and immune responses. As part of this differentiated state, the observed increase in NOX expression is particularly noteworthy. NOX2 plays a crucial role in the generation of ROS, specifically O<sub>2</sub><sup>--</sup>. Macrophages, as activated by PMA-induced differentiation, require elevated levels of ROS for essential immune functions, including phagocytosis and microbial killing. The observed elevation in NOX2 expression, as revealed by Western blot analysis, underscores the dynamic cellular responses associated with the activation and differentiation of U-937 cells into macrophage-like phenotypes. This finding aligns with the anticipated role of NOX2 in respiratory burst, a strong characteristic of activated macrophages engaged in effective

immune responses. These results provide valuable information on the intricate interplay between signaling pathways, cellular differentiation, and up-regulation of key components involved in the immune response. The increased presence of NOX2 signifies an increased capacity for ROS production, contributing to the cellular defense necessary for effective immune functions.



**Figure 10:** Analysis of NOX2 expression from the whole-cell homogenate of U-937 cells. Untreated (-PMA) and treated (+PMA) for 72 hours. The left side displays a scan from Ponceau staining, while the right side presents the western blot analysis of NOX2.

#### 4.5 CD11b expression in non-differentiated and differentiated cells

In order to confirm the differentiation of monocytes to macrophage under the influence of differentiation inducer, we evaluated the expression profile of the surface marker CD11b. The results obtained from this investigation show the efficacy of the differentiation inducer used in our study. In the untreated U-937 cell population, a baseline examination revealed minimal/ no expression of the surface marker, indicative of the undifferentiated state. Upon subjecting U-937 cells to 250 nM PMA (Figure 11), an enhanced expression of CD11b surface marker became apparent. The figure presented below is representative of several biological and technical replicates.

Similarly in our result presented where ascorbic acid was used as a differentiation inducer, a concentration-dependent upregulation of the CD11b surface marker was also apparent. Specifically, at concentrations of 5  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M, a significant increase in FITC fluorescence was observed, providing a clear visual representation of the enhanced expression of CD11b under both treatment conditions (please refer to Fig. 3 of the published article). This fluorescence-based assessment not only corroborates

the efficacy of differentiating agents in promoting the differentiation of U-937 cells into a macrophage-like phenotype but also demonstrates the sensitivity of CD11b as a reliable marker for tracking and quantifying this transition.



**Figure 11:** Expression of CD11b surface marker in cell treated without (upper panel) and in the presence of 250nM PMA. The images from left to right represent Nomarski DIC and FITC fluorescence.

#### 4.6 Cell differentiation and protein modification

In our investigation into protein modifications, we focused on the interaction of malondialdehyde (MDA), a reactive aldehyde compound, with amino acid residues of proteins, leading to the formation of MDA-protein adducts. This modification process serves as a pivotal marker for oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation within cellular and tissue environments.

To assess these protein modifications in the context of U-937 cells, whole-cell homogenate from cells treated with differentiation inducer were prepared. Subsequent separation of these homogenates using sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and immunoblotting with an anti-malondialdehyde (anti-MDA) antibody enabled us to visualize and quantify the extent of protein modification. In PMA-treated U-937 cells, a pronounced formation of MDA-protein adducts was observed, particularly evidenced by evident protein bands at approximately 40 kDa, as depicted (Figure 12 and Figure 13). The densitometry presented in the form

of bar graph was created on ImageJ and processed in Microsoft Excel. This concentrationdependent effect indicates a robust response to PMA-induced oxidative stress. Similar to this observation, in U-937 cells differentiated using ascorbic acid, the pattern of protein modification was significant. Notably, the formation of MDA-protein adducts was most prominent in protein bands at approximately 20 kDa and 40 kDa, and this effect became increasingly pronounced with increasing concentrations of ascorbic acid (upto  $5\mu$ M). Beyond this concentration, the ascorbic acid is predicted to have a switch from pro-oxidant activity to antioxidant activity (Figure 5, published article).

Our findings indicate a substantial increase in protein modification in cells subjected to differentiation. In summary, our investigation into MDA-protein adduct formation in U-937 cells treated with PMA and ascorbic acid reveals distinctive patterns of protein modification, shedding light on the intricate interplay between oxidative stress, differentiation, and the concentration-dependent effects of ascorbic acid on protein dynamics.



**Figure 12:** Detection of modified proteins was achieved by identifying MDA-protein adducts in the whole-cell homogenate of U-937 cells. Cells were either untreated (-) or treated with 250nM PMA (+) for 72 h. A Ponceau staining image is displayed on the left, while Western blot analysis of anti-MDA adduct formation is shown on the right.



**Figure 13**: Densitometric analysis (MDA-protein adducts) of lanes presented in Figure 10. A bar graph was presented using ImageJ.

#### **5** Discussion

U-937 cells are known for their high expression of the toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7), making them a useful tool for investigating the immunomodulatory effects of drugs. This receptor is involved in the recognition of viruses, and the activation of TLR7 in U-937 cells can be used to study the effect of various treatments on immunomodulation. It has been used in studies to investigate the effects of various drugs on cytokine expression in U-937 cells and to study the effects of various drugs on TLR signaling pathways. This cell line was also used to study the molecular mechanisms of drug resistance in cancer cells, and how chemotherapeutic agents have been shown to affect gene expression levels and potential signaling pathways (Shindo et al., 2007; Khatua et al., 2022). Treatment of U-937 cells with chemotherapeutic agents has been shown to affect gene expression levels and potential signaling pathways; infection of this cell line with certain viruses has been used to study viral entry and replication (Liu et al., 2019), the role of microglial cells in neurodegenerative diseases (Xu et al., 2020), to study the activity of the NFkB pathway (nuclear factor kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells), have been used to assess the effects of heavy metals on cytokine production (Dabek et al., 2010).

Some chemical substances can stimulate and induce differentiation such as PMA, 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA), vitamin D3, and retinoic acid. The degree of differentiation depends on the type of substance, the concentration of the stimulus agent, and the length of exposure to the stimuli (Chanput et al., 2014).

PMA also activates the calcium and phospholipid-dependent isoforms of PKC and stimulates AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), which is an energy sensor that regulates cellular metabolism, resulting in macrophage maturation. These macrophages have the potential to be used in clinical trials to investigate cancer immunotherapy (Yang et al., 2018; Yang et al., 2019). The application of PMA exogenously stimulates the NADPH oxidase complex, which can result in the generation of  $O_2^{\bullet-}$  within cells. It may produce  $H_2O_2$  and then HO<sup>•</sup> with the aid of SOD (Auchère and Rusnak, 2002; Halliwell and Gutteridge, 2015; Prasad et al., 2015; Prasad et al., 2016; Pospíšil et al., 2019). Surprisingly, the mechanism of ascorbic acid, which also causes cell differentiation into macrophages similar to PMA, has recently been investigated (Diederich et al., 2023). Using the analyzes carried out, it was shown that cells treated with inducers such as PMA and ascorbic acid were shown to have higher levels of the surface marker CD11b, with an increase in CD11b indicating cell differentiation, as detected by an increase in fluorescence (Starr et al., 2018), which aligns with our results.

When cells produce ROS, they can inflict damage on essential biomolecules such as lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids. ROS have the capacity to directly oxidize proteins, leading to structural and functional disruptions, along with the formation of protein aggregates and cross-linkages. This alteration in protein composition and conformation can impede vital protein-protein interactions and enzyme processes. Among amino acids, cysteine, methionine, and histidine are particularly susceptible to the effects of ROS generation. Lipids, especially due to the presence of PUFA, are highly vulnerable to peroxidation, resulting in the formation of lipid hydroperoxides and subsequent reactive lipid species. Our investigation revealed that MDA, a byproduct of lipid peroxidation, is formed through a series of reactions involving the cleavage of peroxide bonds and rearrangement of resultant radicals. In addition to lipid and protein damage, ROS can interact with DNA/RNA, oxidizing their bases and causing the formation of DNA adducts, strand breaks, and cross-links. Left unrepaired, these alterations can lead to mutations and genomic instability, potentially contributing to disease development (Prasad et al., 2024).

Throughout cellular differentiation, there was a notable rise in the expression of the NADPH oxidase complex, hinting at a potential link to increased ROS production. Previous studies have demonstrated that during the transition of cells from monocytes to macrophages, there is heightened expression of the NOX4 isoform. The findings outlined in this thesis corroborate this observation, indicating a similar pattern for the NOX2 isoform.

#### **6** Conclusion

The U-937 pro-monocytic cell line was chosen for studying ROS due to its minimal cultivation requirements. Our objective was to explore their proliferation, induction of differentiation, and viability. Viability and proliferation were assessed using trypan blue staining. Chemical inducers promoted the differentiation of monocytes into macrophages, accompanied by ROS production during cell polarization. Blotting results confirmed NADPH expression using a polyclonal NOX2 antibody, while protein modification was verified using an anti-MDA polyclonal antibody. These findings indicated alterations in multiple proteins, suggesting that ROS not only disrupted lipid structures but also modified proteins, potentially contributing to mutations, carcinogenesis, accelerated aging, or autoimmune reactions.

Understanding the regulatory mechanisms of NADPH oxidases is crucial, as members of the NOX family represent important therapeutic targets. Both their activation and regulation are implicated in various degenerative diseases, cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, among others. Detailed knowledge is essential for designing effective therapeutic strategies to address the complexities associated with these pathologies. Progress in the coming years looks promising with the development of new, less time-consuming methods, facilitating comprehensive functional and structural investigations into NOX enzyme activation mechanisms.

#### 7 Funding

This work was supported by Palacký University, Olomouc, Czech Republic (IGA\_PrF\_2024\_030 and IGA\_PrF\_2023\_023).

#### 8 References

- Abo, A., Pick, E., Hall, A., Totty, N., Teahan, C. G., & Segal, A. W. (1991). Activation of the NADPH oxidase involves the small GTP-binding protein p21rac1. *Nature*, 353(6345), 668–670. https://doi.org/10.1038/353668a0
- Agnez-Lima, L. F., Melo, J. T. A., Silva, A. E., Oliveira, A. H. S., Timoteo, A. R. S., Lima-Bessa, K. M., Martinez, G. R., Medeiros, M. H. G., Di Mascio, P., Galhardo, R. S., & et al. (2012). DNA damage by singlet oxygen and cellular protective mechanisms. *Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research*, 751(1), 15–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2011.12.005
- Alloul, N., Gorzalczany, Y., Itan, M., Sigal, N., & Pick, E. (2001). Activation of the Superoxide-Generating NADPH Oxidase by Chimeric Proteins Consisting of Segments of the

Cytosolic Component p67<sup>phox</sup> and the Small GTPase Rac1. *Biochemistry*, 40(48), 14557–14566. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi0117347

- Altenhöfer, S., Radermacher, K. A., Kleikers, P. W. M., Wingler, K., & Schmidt, H. H. H. W. (2015). Evolution of NADPH Oxidase Inhibitors: Selectivity and Mechanisms for Target Engagement. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*, 23(5), 406–427. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2013.5814
- Andrés, C. M. C., Pérez de la Lastra, J. M., Andrés Juan, C., Plou, F. J., & Pérez-Lebeña, E. (2023). Superoxide Anion Chemistry—Its Role at the Core of the Innate Immunity. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 24(3), 1841. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24031841
- Ansari, M. A., & Scheff, S. W. (2011). NADPH-oxidase activation and cognition in Alzheimer disease progression. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 51(1), 171–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.03.025
- Antar, S. A., Ashour, N. A., Marawan, M. E., & Al-Karmalawy, A. A. (2023). Fibrosis: Types, Effects, Markers, Mechanisms for Disease Progression, and Its Relation with Oxidative Stress, Immunity, and Inflammation. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 24(4), 4004. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24044004
- Auchère, F., & Rusnak, F. (2002). What is the ultimate fate of superoxide anion in vivo? JBIC Journal of Biological Inorganic Chemistry, 7(6), 664–667. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00775-002-0362-2
- Babior, B. M., Lambeth, J. D., & Nauseef, W. (2002). The Neutrophil NADPH Oxidase. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 397(2), 342–344. https://doi.org/10.1006/abbi.2001.2642
- Bánfi, B., Maturana, A. D., Jaconi, S., Arnaudeau, S., Laforge, T., Sinha, B., Ligeti, E., Demaurex, N., & Krause, K.-H. (2000). A Mammalian H<sup>+</sup> Channel Generated Through Alternative Splicing of the NADPH Oxidase Homolog NOH-1. Science, 287(5450), 138– 142. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.287.5450.138
- Bánfi, B., Molnár, G., Maturana, A. D., Steger, K., Hegedus, B., Demaurex, N., & Krause, K.-H. (2001). A Ca2+-activated NADPH Oxidase in Testis, Spleen, and Lymph Nodes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(40), 37594–37601. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m103034200
- Bardaweel, S. K., Gul, M., Alzweiri, M., Ishaqat, A., ALSalamat, H. A., & Bashatwah, R. M. (2018). Reactive Oxygen Species: the Dual Role in Physiological and Pathological Conditions of the Human Body. *The Eurasian Journal of Medicine*, 50(3), 193–201. https://doi.org/10.5152/eurasianjmed.2018.17397
- Bedard, K., & Krause, K.-H. (2007). The NOX Family of ROS-Generating NADPH Oxidases: Physiology and Pathophysiology. *Physiological Reviews*, 87(1), 245–313. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00044.2005
- Berdichevsky, Y., Mizrahi, A., Ugolev, Y., Molshanski-Mor, S., & Pick, E. (2007). Tripartite Chimeras Comprising Functional Domains Derived from the Cytosolic NADPH Oxidase Components p47, p67, and Rac1 Elicit Activator-independent Superoxide Production by Phagocyte Membranes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*/□*the* □*Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(30), 22122–22139. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m701497200
- Bostwick, D. G., Alexander, E. E., Singh, R., Shan, A., Qian, J., Santella, R. M., Oberley, L. W., Yan, T., Zhong, W., Jiang, X., & et al. (2000). Antioxidant enzyme expression and reactive oxygen species damage in prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and cancer. *Cancer*, 89(1), 123–134. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0142(20000701)89:1%3C123::aid-cncr17%3E3.0.co;2-9
- Boveris, A., Oshino, N., & Chance, B. (1972). The cellular production of hydrogen peroxide. *Biochemical Journal*, *128*(3), 617–630. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj1280617
- Brand, M. D. (2010). The sites and topology of mitochondrial superoxide production. *Experimental Gerontology*, 45(7-8), 466–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2010.01.003
- Brandes, R. P., Weissmann, N., & Schröder, K. (2014). Nox family NADPH oxidases: Molecular mechanisms of activation. Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 76, 208–226.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2014.07.046

- Brieger, K., Schiavone, S., Miller, Jr., & Krause, K. (2012). Reactive oxygen species: from health to disease. *Swiss Medical Weekly*. https://doi.org/10.4414/smw.2012.13659
- Brown, D. I., & Griendling, K. K. (2009). Nox proteins in signal transduction. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 47(9), 1239–1253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2009.07.023
- Carr, A. C., & Winterbourn, C. C. (1998). Differential reactivities of hypochlorous and hypobromous acids with purified Escherichia coli phospholipid: formation of haloamines and halohydrins. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1392(2-3), 254–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0005-2760(98)00038-1
- Chanput, W., Mes, J. J., & Wichers, H. J. (2014). THP-1 cell line: An in vitro cell model for immune modulation approach. *International Immunopharmacology*, 23(1), 37–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2014.08.002
- Chen, K., Kirber, M. T., Xiao, H., Yu, Y., & Keaney, J. F. (2008). Regulation of ROS signal transduction by NADPH oxidase 4 localization. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 181(7), 1129– 1139. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200709049
- Cheng, G., Ritsick, D. R., & Lambeth, J. D. (2004). Nox3 Regulation by NOXO1, p47, and p67. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(33), 34250–34255. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m400660200
- Cho, M.-Y., Cheong, J. Y., Lim, W., Jo, S., Lee, Y., Wang, H.-J., Han, K.-H., & Cho, H. (2014). Prognostic significance of catalase expression and its regulatory effects on hepatitis B virus X protein (HBx) in HBV-related advanced hepatocellular carcinomas. *Oncotarget*, 5(23), 12233–12246. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.2625
- Collin, F. (2019). Chemical Basis of Reactive Oxygen Species Reactivity and Involvement in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20102407
- Cooney, S. J., Bermudez-Sabogal, S. L., & Byrnes, K. R. (2013). Cellular and temporal expression of NADPH oxidase (NOX) isotypes after brain injury. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-10-155
- Cope, A. P. (2006). Harmful Waste Products as Novel Immune Modulators for Treating Inflammatory Arthritis? *PLoS Medicine*, 3(9), e385. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0030385
- Dąbek, J., Kułach, A., & Gąsior, Z. (2010). Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB): a new potential therapeutic target in atherosclerosis? *Pharmacological Reports*, 62(5), 778–783. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1734-1140(10)70338-8
- Davalli, P., Mitic, T., Caporali, A., Lauriola, A., & D'Arca, D. (2016). ROS, Cell Senescence, and Novel Molecular Mechanisms in Aging and Age-Related Diseases. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2016, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/3565127
- De Duve, C., & Baudhuin, P. (1966). Peroxisomes (microbodies and related particles). *Physiological Reviews*, 46(2), 323–357. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1966.46.2.323
- Del Río, L. A., & López-Huertas, E. (2016). ROS Generation in Peroxisomes and its Role in Cell Signaling. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 57(7), pcw076. https://doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pcw076
- DeLeo, F. R., Allen, L.-A. H., Apicella, M., & Nauseef, W. M. (1999). NADPH Oxidase Activation and Assembly During Phagocytosis. *The Journal of Immunology*, *163*(12), 6732–6740. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.163.12.6732
- Di Meo, S., Reed, T. T., Venditti, P., & Victor, V. M. (2016). Role of ROS and RNS Sources in Physiological and Pathological Conditions. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2016, 1–44. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/1245049
- Dickinson, B. C., & Chang, C. J. (2011). Chemistry and biology of reactive oxygen species in signaling or stress responses. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 7(8), 504–511. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.607
- Diederich, A., Fründ, H. J., Trojanowicz, B., Navarrete Santos, A., Nguyen, A. D., Hoang-Vu, C., & Gernhardt, C. R. (2023). Influence of Ascorbic Acid as a Growth and

Differentiation Factor on Dental Stem Cells Used in Regenerative Endodontic Therapies. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *12*(3), 1196. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm12031196

- Dupuy, C., Ohayon, R., Valent, A., Noël-Hudson, M.-S., Dème, D., & Virion, A. (1999). Purification of a Novel Flavoprotein Involved in the Thyroid NADPH Oxidase. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 274(52), 37265–37269. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.52.37265
- Ebisu, K., Nagasawa, T., Watanabe, K., Kakinuma, K., Miyano, K., & Tamura, M. (2001). Fused p47 and p67 Truncations Efficiently Reconstitute NADPH Oxidase with Higher Activity and Stability Than the Individual Components. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(27), 24498–24505. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m101122200
- Ewald, C. Y., Hourihan, J. M., Bland, M. S., Obieglo, C., Katic, I., Moronetti Mazzeo, L. E., Alcedo, J., Blackwell, T. K., & Hynes, N. E. (2017). NADPH oxidase-mediated redox signaling promotes oxidative stress resistance and longevity through memo-1 in C. elegans. *ELife*, 6. https://doi.org/10.7554/elife.19493
- Forman, H. J., Maiorino, M., & Ursini, F. (2010). Signaling Functions of Reactive Oxygen Species. *Biochemistry*, 49(5), 835–842. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi9020378
- Fransen, M., Nordgren, M., Wang, B., & Apanasets, O. (2012). Role of peroxisomes in ROS/RNS-metabolism: Implications for human disease. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1822(9), 1363–1373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2011.12.001
- Frederiks, W. M., Bosch, K. S., Hoeben, K. A., van Marle, J., & Langbein, S. (2010). Renal cell carcinoma and oxidative stress: The lack of peroxisomes. *Acta Histochemica*, 112(4), 364–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acthis.2009.03.003
- Freeman, J., & Lambeth, J. D. (1996). NADPH Oxidase Activity Is Independent of p47. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 271(37), 22578–22582. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.271.37.22578
- Fritz, R., Bol, J., Hebling, U., Angermüller, S., Völkl, A., H. Dariush Fahimi, & Mueller, S. (2007). Compartment-dependent management of H2O2 by peroxisomes. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 42(7), 1119–1129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2007.01.014
- Gao, H.-M., Zhou, H., & Hong, J.-S. (2012). NADPH oxidases: novel therapeutic targets for neurodegenerative diseases. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 33(6), 295–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2012.03.008
- Geiszt, M., Kopp, J. B., Várnai, P., & Leto, T. L. (2000). Identification of Renox, an NAD(P)H oxidase in kidney. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 97(14), 8010–8014. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.130135897
- Ghasemi, M., Turnbull, T., Sebastian, S., & Kempson, I. (2021). The MTT Assay: Utility, Limitations, Pitfalls, and Interpretation in Bulk and Single-Cell Analysis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(23), 12827. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222312827
- Gonos, E. S., Kapetanou, M., Sereikaite, J., Bartosz, G., Naparło, K., Grzesik, M., & Sadowska-Bartosz, I. (2018). Origin and pathophysiology of protein carbonylation, nitration and chlorination in age-related brain diseases and aging. *Aging*, 10(5), 868–901. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101450
- Gutteridge, J. M. C., & Halliwell, B. (1992). Comments on review of free radicals in biology and medicine, second edition, by Barry Halliwell and John M.C. Gutteridge. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, *12*(1), 93–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/0891-5849(92)90062-1
- Halliwell, B., & Gutteridge, J. M. C. (2015). *Free radicals in biology and medicine*. Oxford University Press.
- Halliwell, B., & Whiteman, M. (2004). Measuring reactive species and oxidative damagein vivoand in cell culture: how should you do it and what do the results mean? *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 142(2), 231–255. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0705776
- Halliwell, J., Barbaric, I., & Andrews, P. W. (2020). Acquired genetic changes in human pluripotent stem cells: origins and consequences. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 21(12), 715–728. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-00292-z
- Herb, M. (2024). NADPH Oxidase 3: Beyond the Inner Ear. Antioxidants, 13(2), 219-219.

https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox13020219

- Hey-Mogensen, M., Goncalves, R. L. S., Orr, A. L., & Brand, M. D. (2014). Production of superoxide/H2O2 by dihydroorotate dehydrogenase in rat skeletal muscle mitochondria. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 72, 149–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2014.04.007
- Hitchon, C. A., & El-Gabalawy, H. S. (2004). Oxidation in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 6(6), 265. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar1447
- Igarashi, K., Shoji, Y., Sekine-Suzuki, E., Ueno, M., Matsumoto, K., Nakanishi, I., & Fukui, K. (2022). Importance of Locations of Iron Ions to Elicit Cytotoxicity Induced by a Fenton-Type Reaction. *Cancers*, *14*(15), 3642. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers14153642
- Jomová, K., Raptova, R., Alomar, S. Y., Alwasel, S., Nepovimova, E., Kuca, K., & Valko, M. (2023). Reactive oxygen species, toxicity, oxidative stress, and antioxidants: chronic diseases and aging. Archives of Toxicology, 97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-023-03562-9
- Joseph, N., Zhang-James, Y., Perl, A., & Faraone, S. V. (2013). Oxidative Stress and ADHD. Journal of Attention Disorders, 19(11), 915–924. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054713510354
- Kaludercic, N., Mialet-Perez, J., Paolocci, N., Parini, A., & Di Lisa, F. (2014). Monoamine oxidases as sources of oxidants in the heart. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 73, 34–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.12.032
- Khatua, S., Simal-Gandara, J., & Acharya, K. (2022). Understanding immune-modulatory efficacy in vitro. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 352, 109776. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbi.2021.109776
- Kiyohara, T., Miyano, K., Kamakura, S., Hayase, J., Chishiki, K., Kohda, A., & Sumimoto, H. (2018). Differential cell surface recruitment of the superoxide-producing NADPH oxidases Nox1, Nox2 and Nox5: The role of the small GTPase Sar1. *Genes to Cells*, 23(6), 480–493. https://doi.org/10.1111/gtc.12590
- Kohen, R., & Nyska, A. (2002). Invited Review: Oxidation of Biological Systems: Oxidative Stress Phenomena, Antioxidants, Redox Reactions, and Methods for Their Quantification. *Toxicologic Pathology*, 30(6), 620–650. https://doi.org/10.1080/01926230290166724
- Koshkin, V., Lotan, O., & Pick, E. (1996). The cytosolic component p47phox is not a sine qua non participant in the activation of NADPH oxidase but is required for optimal superoxide production. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(48), 30326–30329. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.271.48.30326
- Krause, K.-H. (2004). Tissue distribution and putative physiological function of NOX family NADPH oxidases. *PubMed*, 57(5), S28-9.
- Lambeth, J. D. (2004). NOX enzymes and the biology of reactive oxygen. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 4(3), 181–189. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1312
- Lauer, C., VölklA., Fahimi, H. D., Beier, K., & Riedl, S. (1999). Impairment of peroxisomal biogenesis in human colon carcinoma. *Carcinogenesis*, 20(6), 985–989. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/20.6.985
- Lee, C. H., Qiao, M., Schröder, K., Zhao, Q., & Asmis, R. (2010). Nox4 is a Novel Inducible Source of Reactive Oxygen Species in Monocytes and Macrophages and Mediates Oxidized Low Density Lipoprotein–Induced Macrophage Death. *Circulation Research*, 106(9), 1489–1497. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.109.215392
- Liao, D., Corle, C., Seagroves, T. N., & Johnson, R. S. (2007). Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1α Is a Key Regulator of Metastasis in a Transgenic Model of Cancer Initiation and Progression. *Cancer Research*, 67(2), 563–572. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2701
- Liu, G., Chen, S., Hu, A., Zhang, L., Sun, W., Chen, J., Tang, W., Zhang, H., Liu, C., Ke, C., & et al. (2019). The Establishment and Validation of the Human U937 Cell Line as a Cellular Model to Screen Immunomodulatory Agents Regulating Cytokine Release Induced by Influenza Virus Infection. *Virologica Sinica*, *34*(6), 648–661. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12250-019-00145-w
- Liu, J., Han, X., Zhang, T., Tian, K., Li, Z., & Luo, F. (2023). Reactive oxygen species (ROS)

scavenging biomaterials for anti-inflammatory diseases: from mechanism to therapy. *Journal of Hematology & Oncology*, *16*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-023-01512-7

- Liu, Z., Ren, Z., Zhang, J., Chuang, C.-C., Kandaswamy, E., Zhou, T., & Zuo, L. (2018). Role of ROS and Nutritional Antioxidants in Human Diseases. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00477
- Magnani, F., Nenci, S., Millana Fananas, E., Ceccon, M., Romero, E., Fraaije, M. W., & Mattevi,
  A. (2017). Crystal structures and atomic model of NADPH oxidase. *Proceedings of the National* Academy of Sciences, 114(26), 6764–6769.
  https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1702293114
- Mapp, P. I., Grootveld, M. C., & Blake, D. R. (1995). Hypoxia, oxidative stress and rheumatoid arthritis. *British Medical Bulletin*, 51(2), 419–436. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.bmb.a072970
- María, C., Pérez, M., Juan, C. A., Plou, F. J., & Pérez-Lebeña, E. (2024). Reactivity and Applications of Singlet Oxygen Molecule. *Biochemistry*. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.112024
- Mauch, L., Lun, A., O'Gorman, M. R., Harris, J. S., Schulze, I., Zychlinsky, A., Fuchs, T., OelschlägelU., Brenner, S., Kutter, D., & et al. (2007). Chronic Granulomatous Disease (CGD) and Complete Myeloperoxidase Deficiency Both Yield Strongly Reduced Dihydrorhodamine 123 Test Signals but Can Be Easily Discerned in Routine Testing for CGD. *Clinical Chemistry*, 53(5), 890–896. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2006.083444
- Meitzler, J. L., & Ortiz, P. R. (2009). Caenorhabditis elegans and Human Dual Oxidase 1 (DUOX1) "Peroxidase" Domains. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(28), 18634– 18643. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m109.013581
- Miyano, K., & Sumimoto, H. (2014). N-linked glycosylation of the superoxide-producing NADPH oxidase Nox1. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 443(3), 1060–1065. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.12.086
- Morgan, M. J., & Liu, Z. (2010). Crosstalk of reactive oxygen species and NF-κB signaling. *Cell Research*, 21(1), 103–115. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2010.178
- Murai, T., & Matsuda, S. (2023). Pleiotropic Signaling by Reactive Oxygen Species Concerted with Dietary Phytochemicals and Microbial-Derived Metabolites as Potent Therapeutic Regulators of the Tumor Microenvironment. *Antioxidants*, 12(5), 1056–1056. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox12051056
- Murphy, M. P., Bayir, H., Belousov, V., Chang, C. J., Davies, K. J. A., Davies, M. J., Dick, T. P., Finkel, T., Forman, H. J., Janssen-Heininger, Y., & et al. (2022). Guidelines for measuring reactive oxygen species and oxidative damage in cells and in vivo. *Nature Metabolism*, 4(6), 651–662. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42255-022-00591-z
- Murphy, Michael P. (2008). How mitochondria produce reactive oxygen species. *Biochemical Journal*, 417(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj20081386
- Nakano, Y., Banfi, B., Jesaitis, A. J., Dinauer, M. C., Allen, L.-A. H., & Nauseef, W. M. (2007). Critical roles for p22phox in the structural maturation and subcellular targeting of Nox3. *Biochemical Journal*, 403(1), 97–108. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj20060819
- Newkirk, M. M., Goldbach-Mansky, R., Lee, J., Hoxworth, J., McCoy, A., Yarboro, C., Klippel, J., & El-Gabalawy, H. S. (2003). Advanced glycation end-product (AGE)-damaged IgG and IgM autoantibodies to IgG-AGE in patients with early synovitis. *Arthritis Research* & *Therapy*, 5(2), R82. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar622
- Nguyen, G. T., Green, E. R., & Mecsas, J. (2017). Neutrophils to the ROScue: Mechanisms of NADPH Oxidase Activation and Bacterial Resistance. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 7(373). https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00373
- Okado-Matsumoto, A., & Fridovich, I. (2001). Subcellular Distribution of Superoxide Dismutases (SOD) in Rat Liver. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(42), 38388–38393. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m105395200
- Omura, T. (2006). Mitochondrial P450s. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 163(1-2), 86–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbi.2006.06.008
- Pacher, P., Beckman, J. S., & Liaudet, L. (2007). Nitric oxide and peroxynitrite in health and

disease. *Physiological Reviews*, 87(1), 315–424. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00029.2006

- Panieri, E., & Santoro, M. M. (2016). ROS homeostasis and metabolism: a dangerous liason in cancer cells. *Cell Death & Disease*, 7(6), e2253–e2253. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2016.105
- Phaniendra, A., Jestadi, D. B., & Periyasamy, L. (2014). Free Radicals: Properties, Sources, Targets, and Their Implication in Various Diseases. *Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry*, 30(1), 11–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12291-014-0446-0
- Pospíšil, P., Prasad, A., & Rác, M. (2019). Mechanism of the Formation of Electronically Excited Species by Oxidative Metabolic Processes: Role of Reactive Oxygen Species. *Biomolecules*, 9(7), 258. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom9070258
- Prasad, A., Kikuchi, H., Inoue, K. Y., Suzuki, M., Sugiura, Y., Sugai, T., Tomonori, A., Tada, M., Kobayashi, M., Matsue, T., & et al. (2016). Simultaneous Real-Time Monitoring of Oxygen Consumption and Hydrogen Peroxide Production in Cells Using Our Newly Developed Chip-Type Biosensor Device. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2016.00109
- Prasad, A., Kumar, A., Suzuki, M., Kikuchi, H., Sugai, T., Kobayashi, M., Pospíšil, P., Tada, M., & Kasai, S. (2015). Detection of hydrogen peroxide in Photosystem II (PSII) using catalytic amperometric biosensor. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.00862
- Prasad, A., Rathi, D., Sedlářová, M., Manoharan, R. R., Průdková, E., & Pospíšil, P. (2024). Differential effects of ascorbic acid on monocytic cell morphology and protein modification: Shifting from pro-oxidative to antioxidant properties. *Biochemistry and Biophysics Reports*, 37, 101622–101622. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrep.2023.101622
- Prasad, A., Sedlářová, M., Balukova, A., Ovsii, A., Rác, M., Křupka, M., Kasai, S., & Pospíšil, P. (2020). Reactive Oxygen Species Imaging in U937 Cells. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.552569
- Racek, J. (2003). Oxidační stres a možnosti jeho ovlivnění (1. vydání, Vol. 89). Galén.
- Rosales, C., & Uribe-Querol, E. (2017). Phagocytosis: a Fundamental Process in Immunity. *BioMed Research International*, 2017(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/9042851
- Ruwanpura, S. M., McLeod, L., Lilja, A., De, G., Dousha, L., Seow, H. J., Bozinovski, S., Vlahos, R., Hertzog, P. J., Anderson, G., & et al. (2013). Non-Essential Role for TLR2 and Its Signaling Adaptor Mal/TIRAP in Preserving Normal Lung Architecture in Mice. *PloS One*, 8(10), e78095–e78095. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078095
- Rybak, L. P., Mukherjea, D., Jajoo, S., Kaur, T., & Ramkumar, V. (2012). siRNA-mediated knock-down of NOX3: therapy for hearing loss? *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 69(14), 2429–2434. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-1016-3
- Sadowska-Bartosz, I., Bartosz, G., Grune, T., & Sereikaite, J. (2018). Role of Oxidative, Nitrative, and Chlorinative Protein Modifications in Aging and Age-Related Diseases. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2018, 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/3267898
- Sameer, A. S., & Nissar, S. (2021). Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs): Structure, Functions, Signaling, and Role of Their Polymorphisms in Colorectal Cancer Susceptibility. *BioMed Research International*, 2021, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/1157023
- Sandalio, L. M., Fernández, V. M., Rupérez, F. L., & Del, L. A. (1988). Superoxide Free Radicals Are Produced in Glyoxysomes. *Plant Physiology*, 87(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.87.1.1
- Sandalio, L. M., Rodríguez-Serrano, M., Romero-Puertas, M. C., & Del Río, L. A. (2013). Role of peroxisomes as a source of reactive oxygen species (ROS) signaling molecules. *Sub-Cellular Biochemistry*, 69, 231–255. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-6889-5\_13
- Schäppi, M. G., Jaquet, V., Belli, D. C., & Krause, K.-H. (2008). Hyperinflammation in chronic granulomatous disease and anti-inflammatory role of the phagocyte NADPH oxidase. *Seminars in Immunopathology*, 30(3), 255–271. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00281-008-0119-2
- Sharma, P., Jha, A. B., Dubey, R. S., & Pessarakli, M. (2012). Reactive Oxygen Species, Oxidative Damage, and Antioxidative Defense Mechanism in Plants under Stressful

Conditions. Journal of Botany, 2012, 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/217037

- Shindo, M., Liang, X., Wang, Z., Miller, J. S., Carroll, M., & Chen, W. (2007). Toll-Like Receptor Agonists Induce Immunogeneicity and Apoptosis of Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells. *Blood*, 110(11), 160–160. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v110.11.160.160
- Sies, H., Belousov, V. V., Chandel, N. S., Davies, M. J., Jones, D. P., Mann, G. E., Murphy, M. P., Yamamoto, M., & Winterbourn, C. (2022). Defining roles of specific reactive oxygen species (ROS) in cell biology and physiology. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 23(7), 499–515. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-022-00456-z
- Smulik, R., Dębski, D., Zielonka, J., Michałowski, B., Adamus, J., Marcinek, A., Kalyanaraman, B., & Sikora, A. (2014). Nitroxyl (HNO) Reacts with Molecular Oxygen and Forms Peroxynitrite at Physiological pH. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(51), 35570– 35581. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m114.597740
- Snelgrove, R. J., Edwards, L., Rae, A. J., & Hussell, T. (2006). An absence of reactive oxygen species improves the resolution of lung influenza infection. *European Journal of Immunology*, 36(6), 1364–1373. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200635977
- Sorce, S., & Krause, K.-H. (2009). NOX Enzymes in the Central Nervous System: From Signaling to Disease. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*, *11*(10), 2481–2504. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2009.2578
- Splettstoesser, W. D., & Schuff-Werner, P. (2002). Oxidative stress in phagocytes "The enemy within." *Microscopy Research and Technique*, 57(6), 441–455. https://doi.org/10.1002/jemt.10098
- Stadtman, E. R., & Levine, R. L. (2003). Free radical-mediated oxidation of free amino acids and amino acid residues in proteins. *Amino Acids*, 25(3-4), 207–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00726-003-0011-2
- Staroń, A., Mąkosa, G., & Koter-Michalak, M. (2010). Oxidative stress in erythrocytes from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology International*, 32(2), 331–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00296-010-1611-2
- Starr, T., Bauler, T. J., Malik-Kale, P., & Steele-Mortimer, O. (2018). The phorbol 12-myristate-13-acetate differentiation protocol is critical to the interaction of THP-1 macrophages with Salmonella Typhimurium. *PLOS ONE*, 13(3), e0193601. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0193601
- Stewart, M. E., Barnard, L., Pearson, J., Hasan, R., & O'Brien, G. (2006). Presentation of depression in autism and Asperger syndrome. *Autism*, 10(1), 103–116. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361306062013
- Štípek, S. (2000). Anioxidanty a volné radikály ve zdraví a v nemoci (1. vydání). Grada Publishing.
- Suh, Y.-A., Arnold, R. S., Lassegue, B., Shi, J., Xu, X., Sorescu, D., Chung, A. B., Griendling, K. K., & Lambeth, J. D. (1999). Cell transformation by the superoxide-generating oxidase Mox1. *Nature*, 401(6748), 79–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/43459
- Sumimoto, H. (2008). Structure, regulation and evolution of Nox-family NADPH oxidases that produce reactive oxygen species. *FEBS Journal*, 275(13), 3249–3277. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2008.06488.x
- Sundström, C., & Nilsson, K. (1976a). Establishment and characterization of a human histiocytic lymphoma cell line (U-937). *International Journal of Cancer*, 17(5), 565–577. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910170504
- Sundström, C., & Nilsson, K. (1976b). Establishment and characterization of a human histiocytic lymphoma cell line (U-937). *International Journal of Cancer*, *17*(5), 565–577. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910170504
- Takeya, R., Ueno, N., Kami, K., Taura, M., Kohjima, M., Izaki, T., Nunoi, H., & Sumimoto, H. (2003). Novel Human Homologues of p47 and p67 Participate in Activation of Superoxide-producing NADPH Oxidases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(27), 25234–25246. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m212856200
- Tarafdar, A., & Pula, G. (2018). The Role of NADPH Oxidases and Oxidative Stress in Neurodegenerative Disorders. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(12), 3824. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19123824

- Tönnies, E., & Trushina, E. (2017). Oxidative Stress, Synaptic Dysfunction, and Alzheimer's Disease. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 57(4), 1105–1121. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-161088
- Tschopp, J. (2011). Mitochondria: Sovereign of inflammation? *European Journal of Immunology*, *41*(5), 1196–1202. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201141436
- Ueno, N., Takeya, R., Miyano, K., Kikuchi, H., & Sumimoto, H. (2005). The NADPH Oxidase Nox3 Constitutively Produces Superoxide in a p22 -dependent Manner. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(24), 23328–23339. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m414548200
- Ueyama, T., Tatsuno, T., Kawasaki, T., Tsujibe, S., Shirai, Y., Sumimoto, H., Leto, T. L., & Saito, N. (2007). A Regulated Adaptor Function of p40<sup>*phox*</sup>: Distinct p67<sup>*phox*</sup>Membrane Targeting by p40<sup>*phox*</sup> and by p47<sup>*phox*</sup>. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 18(2), 441–454. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e06-08-0731
- Valenta, H., Dupré, S., Abdesselem, M., Bizouarn, T., Baciou, L., Nüsse, O., Deniset-Besseau, A., & Erard, M. (2022). Consequences of the constitutive NOX2 activity in living cells: Cytosol acidification, apoptosis, and localized lipid peroxidation. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. Molecular Cell Research*, 1869(9), 119276–119276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2022.119276
- Valko, M., Morris, H., & Cronin, M. (2005). Metals, Toxicity and Oxidative Stress. Current Medicinal Chemistry, 12(10), 1161–1208. https://doi.org/10.2174/0929867053764635
- Van der Vliet, A., Danyal, K., & Heppner, D. E. (2018). Dual oxidase: a novel therapeutic target in allergic disease. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *175*(9), 1401–1418. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.14158
- Vásquez-Vivar, J., Kalyanaraman, B., & Kennedy, M. C. (2000). Mitochondrial Aconitase Is a Source of Hydroxyl Radical. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(19), 14064–14069. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.275.19.14064
- Vermot, A., Petit-Härtlein, I., Smith, S. M. E., & Fieschi, F. (2021). NADPH Oxidases (NOX): An Overview from Discovery, Molecular Mechanisms to Physiology and Pathology. *Antioxidants*, 10(6), 890. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox10060890
- Vona, R., Pallotta, L., Cappelletti, M., Severi, C., & Matarrese, P. (2021). The Impact of Oxidative Stress in Human Pathology: Focus on Gastrointestinal Disorders. *Antioxidants*, 10(2), 201. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox10020201
- Wall, S. B., Oh, J.-Y., Diers, A. R., & Landar, A. (2012a). Oxidative Modification of Proteins: An Emerging Mechanism of Cell Signaling. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 3. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2012.00369
- Wall, S. B., Oh, J.-Y., Diers, A. R., & Landar, A. (2012b). Oxidative Modification of Proteins: An Emerging Mechanism of Cell Signaling. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 3. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2012.00369
- Waris, G., & Ahsan, H. (2006). Reactive oxygen species: role in the development of cancer and various chronic conditions. *Journal of Carcinogenesis*, 5(1), 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-3163-5-14
- Whatley, S., Curti, D., Gupta, F. D., Ferrier, I., Jones, S., Taylor, C., & Marchbanks, R. (1998). Superoxide, neuroleptics and the ubiquinone and cytochrome b5 reductases in brain and lymphocytes from normals and schizophrenic patients. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 3(3), 227– 237. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4000375
- Xu, Y., Jin, M.-Z., Yang, Z.-Y., & Jin, W.-L. (2020). Microglia in neurodegenerative diseases. Neural Regeneration Research, 16(2), 270–280. https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.290881
- Yang, C.-S., Lee, J.-S., Rodgers, M., Min, C.-K., Lee, J.-Y., Kim, H. J., Lee, K.-H., Kim, C.-J., Oh, B., Zandi , E., & et al. (2012). Autophagy Protein Rubicon Mediates Phagocytic NADPH Oxidase Activation in Response to Microbial Infection or TLR Stimulation. *Cell Host & Microbe*, *11*(3), 264–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2012.01.018
- Yang, H., Villani, R. M., Wang, H., Simpson, M. J., Roberts, M. S., Tang, M., & Liang, X. (2018). The role of cellular reactive oxygen species in cancer chemotherapy. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research*, 37(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-018-0909-x

- Yang, S., Wen, J., Li, H., Xu, L., Liu, Y., Zhao, N., Zeng, Z., Qi, J., Jiang, W., Han, W., & et al. (2019). Aptamer-Engineered Natural Killer Cells for Cell-Specific Adaptive Immunotherapy. *Small*, 15(22), 1900903. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201900903
- Yasui, H., Hayashi, S., & Sakurai, H. (2005). Possible Involvement of Singlet Oxygen Species as Multiple Oxidants in P450 Catalytic Reactions. *Drug Metabolism and Pharmacokinetics*, 20(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.2133/dmpk.20.1
- Zhang, L., Yu, L., & Yu, C. (1998). Generation of Superoxide Anion by Succinate-Cytochromec Reductase from Bovine Heart Mitochondria. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(51), 33972–33976. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.51.33972

#### **9** Abbreviations

AIDS	Acquired immune deficiency syndrome
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CGD	Chronic granulomatous disease
CLSM	Confocal laser scanning microscopy
Cu-SOD	Copper superoxide dismutase
СҮР	Cytochrome catalytic cycle
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DTT	Dithiothreitol
DUOX1	Dual oxidase 1
DUOX2	Dual oxidase 2
FAD	Flavin adenine dinucleotide
Fc	Fragment crystallizable
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
$H_2O_2$	Hydrogen Peroxide
HIF-1α	Hypoxia-inducible transcription factor
HO <b>ʻ</b>	Hydroxyl Radical
HOO <sup>.</sup>	Hydroperoxyl radical
HO	Hydroxyl anion
H <sub>2</sub> O	Water
$H_2O_2$	Hydrogen peroxide

HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IgM	Immunoglobulin M
Mn-SOD	Manganese superoxide dismutase
MPTP	1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine
mtROS	Mitochodrial reactive oxygen species
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
NADPH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate
NO	Nitroxyl anion
NO <sup>.</sup>	Nitric oxide
$N_2O_3$	Dinitrogen trioxide
NOX	NADPH Oxidase
NOX2	NADPH Oxidase 2
NOX3	NADPH Oxidase 3
NOX4	NADPH Oxidase 4
NOX5	NADPH Oxidase 5
$^{1}O_{2}$	Singlet oxygen
O <sub>2</sub>	Molecular oxygen
$O_2^{\bullet-}$	Superoxide anion radical
ONOO <sup>-</sup>	Peroxinitrite
PEG	Polyethylene Glycol
РКС	Protein kinase C
PMA	Phorbol-12-Myristate-13-Acetate
POBN	N-tert-butyl-4-pyridylnitrone-1-oxid
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RT	Room temperature
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl-sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
TLR	Toll-like receptor
Zn-SOD	Zinc superoxide dismutase

Name of chemical	Composition
Gel buffer (tris) 3X	36.3 g Tris base (3M)
	0.3 g of SDS
	36 g of 6M urea
	dH <sub>2</sub> O to 100 mL
Acrylamide-Bisacrylamide	48 g of acrylamide
(AB-3) stock solution	1.5 g of bisacrylamide
	dH <sub>2</sub> O to 100 mL
Separating gel	3 mL of AB-3
	5.4 mg of $dH_2O$
	3.5 mL of gel buffer
	1.5 mL of glycerol
	97 μL of APS
	7.5 μL of TEMED
Stacking gel	1 mL of AB-3
	7.9 mg of $dH_2O$
	3.3 mL of gel buffer
	117 μL of APS
	9 μL of TEMED
Anode buffer	121 g of Tris base (1M), 800 mL of $dH_2O$
	Adjust pH to 8.9
	dH <sub>2</sub> O to 1000 mL
Cathode buffer	60.5 g of Tris base (1M)
	90 g of tricine
	5 g of SDS
	$dH_2O$ to 500 mL
Transfer buffer	19.35 g of Tris base (300mM)
	3 mL of 100mM acetic acid add 450 mL of
	dH <sub>2</sub> O
	modify pH to 8.6
	$dH_2O$ to 500 mL
Phosphate buffer saline (PBS)	80 g of NaCl
	2 g 28mM KCl
	35.8 g 100 mM Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> .12H <sub>2</sub> O
	2.45 g of $KH_2PO_4$
	dissolve it in dH <sub>2</sub> O
	adjust pH to 7.4
	$dH_2O$ to 1000 mL
Blocking – PBST	100 mL of PBS
	1 mL of Tween 20
	dH <sub>2</sub> O to 1000 mL
Primary antibody solution	49.9 mL of PBST-BSA
(amount for 2 membranes)	1 μL of anti-MDA (or NOX2, NOX4)
Secondary antibody solution (amount for 2 membranes)	49.95 mL of PBST-BSA

IgG (H+L) Horseradish peroxidase conjuga
--



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

#### **Biochemistry and Biophysics Reports**





# Differential effects of ascorbic acid on monocytic cell morphology and protein modification: Shifting from pro-oxidative to antioxidant properties

Ankush Prasad<sup>a,\*</sup>, Deepak Rathi<sup>a</sup>, Michaela Sedlářová<sup>b</sup>, Renuka Ramalingam Manoharan<sup>a</sup>, Eliška Průdková<sup>a</sup>, Pavel Pospíšil<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Biophysics, Faculty of Science, Palacký University, Šlechtitelů 27, 783 71, Olomouc, Czech Republic

<sup>b</sup> Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, Palacký University, Šlechtitelů 27, 783 71, Olomouc, Czech Republic

#### ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Vitamin C Reactive oxygen species Human cells Antioxidants Pro-oxidant

#### ABSTRACT

In this study, we investigated the properties of ascorbic acid (vitamin C), which is a naturally occurring watersoluble vitamin. Our goal is to evaluate its pro-oxidative and/or antioxidant capabilities. To do this, we initially used a confocal laser scanning microscope (CLSM) to visualize the differentiation pattern in U-937 cells under the treatment of variable concentrations of ascorbic acid. Prior to induction, U-937 cells showed a spherical morphology. After treatment, significant morphological changes were observed in the form of prominent pseudopodia and amoeboid structures. Interestingly, pseudopodia incidences increased with an increase in ascorbic acid concentrations. In addition, our analysis of protein modification using anti-malondialdehyde antibodies showed changes in more than one protein. The findings reveal the link between the differentiation of U-937 cells into macrophages and the protein modifications triggered by the production of reactive oxygen species when U-937 cells are exposed to ascorbic acid. Furthermore, the transformation of ascorbic acid from a prooxidative to an antioxidant property is also demonstrated.

#### 1. Introduction

Ascorbic acid (vitamin C) is a natural water-soluble vitamin and a potent reducing and antioxidant agent [1-3]. It functions in fighting bacterial infections, in detoxification, and, in the formation of collagen in fibrous tissue, teeth, bones, connective tissue, skin, and capillaries, besides absorption of iron [4,5]. Since it is obtained from food and available through a wide range of supplements, severe deficiency caused by ascorbic acid is rather rare. In unusual cases, it can lead to conditions such as weakness, fatigue, joint and muscle aches, and bleeding gums, which are also symptoms associated with scurvy [6].

Ascorbic acid is a powerful antioxidant and helps to protect the body from the harmful effects of free radicals [7] Besides this, ascorbic acid is essential for the synthesis of collagen, helps in stimulating the production of white blood cells, iron absorption, synthesis of neurotransmitters. It also acts as natural antihistamines and promotes the formation of connective tissues [8–12]. Free radicals or reactive oxygen species (ROS) are unstable molecules that can damage cells and are associated with the development of chronic diseases such as cancer, heart diseases, and Alzheimer's disease [13–17]. Ascorbic acid, as an antioxidant, neutralizes free radicals by providing electrons to stabilize them, thus reducing their ability to cause cell damage [1,2]. It also helps regenerate other antioxidants, such as vitamin E, and further improves antioxidant properties [18,19]. It is also known for its anti-inflammatory effect; it is important to note that the body can absorb only limited amount of ascorbic acid at a time and that excessive amounts are excreted in the urine. Ascorbic acid supplements are usually safe, but excessive intake can cause side effects such as diarrhea, nausea, and stomach cramps.

Ascorbate (/ascorbate anion) can induce the transformation of  $Fe^{3+}$ into  $Fe^{2+}$ , which can lead to the formation of the hydroxyl radical (HO<sup>•</sup>) in the cytoplasmic pool. Due to this property, ascorbate (/ascorbate anion) can also act as a pro-oxidant. Additionally, the oxidation of ascorbate results in the generation of the ascorbyl radical (AH<sup>•</sup>) via monodehydroascorbate radical (A<sup>•</sup>) [20,21]. Hence, it is essential to approach hypothesis formulation with utmost care to ascertain whether the experimentally obtained results stem directly from ascorbate or ROS

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrep.2023.101622

Received 7 November 2023; Received in revised form 18 December 2023; Accepted 18 December 2023 Available online 27 December 2023

2405-5808/© 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Abbreviations: AA, ascorbic acid; ROS, reactive oxygen species; CLSM, confocal laser scanning microscopy; PMA, phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate; RIPA, radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author.

*E-mail address:* ankush.prasad@upol.cz (A. Prasad).

during cell supplementation.

In the current study, we aimed to evaluate the pro-oxidant and antioxidant capabilities of ascorbic acid. We have used the U-937 cell line, which is a pro-monocytic myeloid leukemia cell line of human origin [22]. Under in vitro conditions, an unlimited number of uniform cells can be prepared from U-937 cells [23]. These leukemia cells bear the t(10; 11)(p13; q14) translocation, which results in a fusion between the MLLT10 (myeloid/lymphoid or mixed-lineage leukemia) gene and the Ap-3-like clathrin assembly protein PICALM (clathrin assembly lymphoid myeloid leukemia), which is likely important for the tumorous nature of the cell line [24]. We investigated the relationship of ROS production under the effects of variable concentrations/the length of incubation of ascorbic acid. When the immune reactions are activated, monocytes migrate to different tissues and organs within the body. After reaching the target, depending on the specific signals from local micro-environments, they can be differentiated into diverse types of cells. One of the principal cell types which can be differentiated from monocytes are the macrophages. The monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation process involves several phases: Upon accessing the target tissue, monocytes are exposed to cytokines/chemokines which are secreted by the neighbouring cells. Following this, signalling pathways within the monocytes are initiated leading to changes in gene expression/cellular morphology, which is also a typical characteristic of macrophages. Macrophages acquire enlarged morphology with increased capacity for phagocytosis. Additionally, it has been known that the gene expression profile shifts to support macrophage-specific functions such as the generation of inflammatory mediators and the potential for antigen presentation.

Visualization of differentiation under induction was accomplished utilizing confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM). Interestingly, it has been shown that ascorbic acid has the potential as a differentiation agent, i.e., unspecialized cells become specialized in different types of cells with specific functions. Research shows that ascorbic acid can induce differentiation in various types of cells, including stem cells, cancerous cells, and immune cells [25,26]. In immune cells, ascorbic acid has been shown to improve the differentiation and function of certain types of immune cells, including T cells and dendritic cells. Overall, the ability of ascorbic acid to induce differentiation in different types of cells is an interesting field of research for potential therapeutic applications. Thus, instead of inducing differentiation using another chemical stimulant, we evaluated the dependence and relation of three parameters: differentiation induction of monocytes to macrophages in U-937, pro-oxidant concentration, and antioxidant concentration of ascorbic acid. Furthermore, protein immunoblotting was used to understand protein modification. Our results show a correlation between the differentiation of U-937 cells into macrophages and protein modification under the effect of generated ROS.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Chemicals and antibodies

For blotting, a polyclonal anti-malondialdehyde (anti-MDA) antibody suitable for the measurement of MDA was used. The primary antibody was purchased from Abcam (Cambridge, CB2 0AX, UK) [Anti-Malondialdehyde antibody (ab27642)]; CD11b Monoclonal Antibody-FITC from eBioscience<sup>™</sup> (ThermoFischer Scientific, USA) and secondary antibody was purchased from Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA, USA) [Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG-HRP Conjugate (1706515)]. Cell culture medium, antibiotics, and inhibitors used were from Biosera (Nuaillé, France) and Roche (Mannheim, Germany).

#### 2.2. Cell line and growing condition

The U-937 cell line is a human pro-monocytic myeloid leukemia cell line [22] obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC;

Rockville, MD, USA). The TC20 automated cell counter (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, United States) was used to determine cell density and was monitored using 0.25 % trypan blue dye. Experiments were performed when viability was close to or above 70 %. To growth medium (RPMI-1640) pre-supplemented with 0.05 mM L-glutamine were added 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1 % of the antibiotics (penicillin and streptomycin) in v/v ratio.

#### 2.3. Induction of differentiation

The differentiation of U-937 cells was studied under ascorbic acid concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 10  $\mu$ M. Culture medium with 1x10<sup>5</sup> cell suspension/mL was supplemented with ascorbic acid at the final concentration of either 0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M or 10  $\mu$ M for 72h, and followed by a resting phase of 24 h to achieve cell adhesion and express macrophage characteristic cytokine expression. For validation, we also employed a widely recognized differentiation inducer, phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, United States) at final concentrations of 150 and 250 nM. The timing of the induction protocol was deduced from our pilot experiments focusing on U-937 cell differentiation stages in relation to ascorbic acid treatment.

#### 2.4. Cell viability assay

The TC20 automated cell counter was used to determine the cell viability (expressed as total cell counts  $mL^{-1}$ ) after incubation of U-937 cells with 0.25 % trypan blue in a ratio of 4:1 for approximately 2 min. Trypan blue is used to determine the ratio of living and dead cells in a cell suspension, and it is because the dye enters only dead cells and stains them blue, while live cells have intact cell membranes and remain bright and unstained [27]. In our experimental condition, cell density and viability were measured after treatment of U-937 cells with ascorbic acid for 72 h and following the 24 h resting period. The data obtained are presented in Fig. 1.

#### 2.5. Confocal laser scanning microscopy

A Fluorview 1000 confocal unit attached to the IX80 microscope was used to image U-937 cells on glass slides (Olympus Czech Group, Prague, Czech Republic). Staining with FM4-64 (15  $\mu$ M, RT), which is a lipophilic dye was used to monitor cell membrane integrity, and Hoechst 33342 (2  $\mu$ M, RT) was used to visualize the nucleus under the experimental conditions mentioned. FM4-64 excitation was done using a 543 nm He–Ne laser and its emission was recorded in the range of 655–755 nm. The cells were co-stained with FM4-64 and Hoechst 33342 [Sigma Aldrich GmbH (Germany)]. Following an incubation of 5 min, the cells were transferred to a glass slide for visualization. For immunohistochemistry, after treatments with 5  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M ascorbic acid for 48 h, the culture medium was removed from the culture plates, and 3.5 % paraformaldehyde was added for cell fixation for 30 min. The cells were then washed three times with phosphate buffered saline containing 0.1 % Tween-20 (PBST) for 5 min each.

Afterward, the fixed cells were blocked with 0.5 % BSA in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) for 30 min at room temperature (RT). Subsequently, the blocked samples were probed with CD11b Monoclonal Antibody-FITC (dilution 1:2500) for 60 min at RT, followed by three washes with PBS (5 min each) and Immunofluorescence was measured using excitation achieved by a 488 nm line of an argon laser, and the signal was detected by a 505–550 nm emission filter.

#### 2.6. Protein immunoblotting

Ascorbic acid (72 h,  $0.1-10 \mu$ M) or PMA (72 h, 150 and 250 nM) pretreated U-937 cells were incubated in serum-free medium for 24 h (resting time), cells were then collected by centrifugation and washed with phosphate buffer saline (PBS) (pH 7.4) twice. Following this step,



В



Fig. 1. Cell viability of U-937 cells. U-937 cells at different concentrations of ascorbic acid (0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M). The data are presented as the mean value (±SE) of biological replicates (n = 2).

cells were sonicated in RIPA lysis buffer [150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris (pH 8.0), 0.5 % sodium deoxycholate, 0.1 % SDS, 1 % NP-40] containing 1 % (v/v) protease and phosphatase inhibitor. The processed homogenate was centrifuged at 14,000 rpm (30 min, 4 °C) and the collected supernatant fraction was quantified using a Pierce BCA protein estimation kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Paisley, UK).

For anti-MDA blotting, samples were prepared with 5× Laemmli sample buffer along with 100 mM Dithiothreitol (DTT); and a protein concentration of 10 µg/lane was used for electrophoresis. The protein samples were then boiled for 10 min at 70 °C. The proteins were seperated on 10% SDS gels and then transferred to nitrocellulose membranes using the Trans-Blot Turbo transfer system (Bio-Rad, California, USA). The nitrocellulose membranes were then blocked for 90 min at room temperature (RT) with 5 % BSA in tris-buffered saline (TBS) (pH 7.4) and 0.1 % Tween 20 (referred to as TBST). The blocked membranes were probed for 90 min at RT with anti-MDA antibody (dilution 1: 5000) followed by 3X washing (10 min each) with TBST; incubated for another 90 min at RT with HRP-conjugated goat antirabbit secondary antibody (dilution 1:10000). Following 3 steps of TBST (10 min each), immunocomplexes were imaged using the Amersham imager 600 and Immobilon Western Chemiluminescent HRP Substrate (Sigma Aldrich, GmbH, Germany) (GE Healthcare, UK).

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Cell viability using the trypan blue exclusion test

Quantitative estimation of viable cells exposed to varying concentrations of ascorbic acid in U-937 cells was carried out using trypan blue. U-937 cells were treated for 72 h followed by a 24 h of resting period. In Fig. 1A, the gray bar indicates the total cell count, while the green bar indicates the number of live cells within the population (SE, n = 2), while Fig. 1B indicates the cell viability after the resting period. From Fig. 1, it is evident that cell viability under different concentrations used in the experiments is more than 80 % with ascorbic acid treatment. There was a minor/negligible effect noticed in comparison to the control at different concentrations. Therefore, it is considered that the cells are metabolically active in response to the treatments.

#### 3.2. Cell differentiation induced by ascorbic acid and various inducers

Visual changes were monitored 72 h after the addition of ascorbic acid using a confocal laser scanning microscope. Cell morphology was altered after 72 h of incubation with doses of ascorbic acid. When exposed to various differentiation inducers such as PMA, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), retinoic acid, Zn<sup>2+</sup>, 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13acetate (TPA), and low concentrations of glutamine, pro-monocytic cells tend to undergo maturation into monocytes or macrophages. To confirm whether the cellular integrity of the U-937 cells under the experimental conditions does not lead to damage of cells, FM4-64 which is a lipophilic styryl compound, and Hoechst 33342 were used. It can be observed that in U-937 cells treated with variable concentration of ascorbic acid (Fig. 2), no obvious cell damage occurred, and cellular integrity (red fluorescence) and nuclear integrity (blue fluorescence) were maintained under all conditions. Differentiated U-937 cells have distinct extensions bearing amoeboid morphology. Before the treatment, the cell morphology exhibited a clear, spherical structure, whereas, after treatment, significant morphological alterations can be observed in the form of prominent pseudopodia, the incidence of which can be seen to be higher with increasing concentration of ascorbic acid from 0.1 µM until 5 µM. A reduction in these morphological structures was observed at higher concentrations of ascorbic acid (10  $\mu$ M) (Fig. 2).

#### 3.3. Expression of cell surface marker CD11b

To confirm the differentiation of pro-monocytic cells into macrophages, we tracked the expression of the CD11b surface marker. As shown in the results (Fig. 3), it is evident that in untreated U-937 cells, the surface marker expression is minimal. However, in cells treated with ascorbic acid (at 5 and 10  $\mu$ M concentrations), FITC fluorescence is visibly present under both treatment conditions.

### 3.4. Effect of ascorbic acid in U-937 cells and associated protein modification

Protein modification occurs when MDA, a reactive aldehyde compound, reacts with amino acid residues of proteins, resulting in the formation of MDA-protein adducts. This is often used as a marker of oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation in cells and tissues. Whole-cell homogenate from U-937 cells treated with PMA and ascorbic acid separated using SDS-PAGE followed by immunoblotting using antimalondialdehyde (anti-MDA) antibody showed modification of more than one protein. In PMA-treated U-937 cells, the formation of MDA is most pronounced as displayed by protein bands at approximately 40 kDa (Fig. 4A) which is also evident from the densitogram presented in Fig. 4B. In ascorbic acid treated U-937 cells, the formation of MDA is most pronounced in the protein bands at approximately 20 kDa and 40 kDa, and this effect becomes more prominent with increasing concentrations of ascorbic acid (Fig. 5A and Supplementary data 1). A



Fig. 2. Double staining using Hoechst 33342 and FM4-64 in 72 h differentiated U-937 cells. Differentiation was induced using variable concentrations of ascorbic acid (0.1–10  $\mu$ M). Images were captured in various channels at a magnification of 1000 × after staining for 5 min (from left to right are Nomarski DIC, FM4-64 and Hoechst 33342). For each variant, the presented images represent several scans conducted on both biological and technical replicates.

consistent and linear increase in band intensity at this molecular weight range is observed in treated cells, especially with 1  $\mu$ M and 5  $\mu$ M ascorbic acid, as indicated in the densitogram shown in Fig. 5B. Notably, in cells differentiated with 10  $\mu$ M ascorbic acid, a sudden decline in band intensity is evident. We confirmed our findings by employing reverse-phase HPLC to measure the concentration of MDA in cells treated with 1 and 5  $\mu$ M ascorbic acid, comparing them to the control (indicated as -).

A significant increase was observed in case of ascorbic acid differentiated cell (supplementary data 2). These findings can be associated with the differentiation pattern illustrated in Fig. 2. Unexpectedly, the band intensity at 40 kDa exhibits a slight reduction in the 0.1  $\mu$ M ascorbic acid-treated sample when compared to the control. We attribute this phenomenon to potential non-specific interactions. Nomarski DIC



Fig. 3. Expression of CD11b surface marker in cell treated without (upper panel) and in the presence of 5 µM (middle panel) and 10 µM (lower panel) of ascorbic acid for 48 h. The images from left to right represent Nomarski DIC and FITC fluorescence.

#### 4. Discussion

Monocytes are circulatory precursors that originate from a myeloid lineage which can further differentiate into macrophages or dendritic cells after recruitment in tissues and blood stream [28]. Our immune system gains the advantage of phagocytosis, antigen presentation, and cytokine production from these cells. U-937, a pro-monocytic cell lines differentiate into macrophages or into dendritic cells in vitro in presence of different inducers [29]. The basic feature of this cell line is the synthesis and secretion of lysozyme with the absence of immunoglobulin production.

When cells such as U-937 and THP-1 cells are exposed to differentiation inducers such as PMA, retinoic acid etc., their proliferation is slowed while the differentiation process is triggered. The monocytes under these treatments are known as "macrophage-like" because of their structure. However, the properties of the transformed cell line are not yet well known. It depends on the dose and time of treatment with inducers. Cells treated with different inducers have been shown to express elevated levels of CD11b and CD14. It also starts to induce adherence accompanied by cell cycle arrest [30]. Cell differentiation is also known to activate the calcium and phospholipid-dependent isoforms of protein kinase C (PKC) thereby inducing AMP metabolism, which leads to its maturation into a macrophage [31,32]. It is now well accepted that the treatment with differentiation inducers exogenously activates the NADPH oxidase complex, which can lead to the formation of  $O_2^{\bullet-}$  [33]. In the presence of superoxide dismutase (SOD), it can form H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and subsequently HO<sup>•</sup> in the presence of transition metal ions [34]. During the last decades, differentiation studies were done utilizing PMA and

A. Prasad et al.

Α

B



**Fig. 4. A.** Protein MDA adducts formed in U-937 cells treated with 250 nM PMA. This illustrates protein modification in U-937 cells that were differentiated for 72 h, visualized on blot with anti-MDA antibody. **B.** Quantification of protein bands from an anti-MDA blot by densitogram analysis.

retinoic acid as inducers whereas, more recently, ascorbic acid has been known to relate to cell differentiation [35], the molecular mechanism of which is still unclear. Differentiation studies on dental stem cells have been performed using ascorbic acid in the time range of 24–72 h; however, the stability of ascorbic acid over the period of several days in solution should be taken in account considering the instability of the compound [36].

With the production of ROS in cells, biomolecules such as lipids,

Biochemistry and Biophysics Reports 37 (2024) 101622

proteins, and nucleic acids can be damaged. Reactive oxygen species can directly oxidize proteins, leading to structural and functional impairments, as well as the formation of protein aggregates and cross-linking. Altogether, it can lead to change in normal protein folding and conformation resulting which the protein-protein interaction and enzymatic activity can be hampered. Amino acids, including but not limited to cysteine, methionine, and histidine are known to be most affected by ROS generation. Lipid particularly due to the presence of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA's) are prone to peroxidation leading to the formation of lipid hydroperoxide and subsequently other reactive lipid species. In our study, MDA which is formed as a by-product of lipid peroxidation known to be generated through a series of reaction involving cleavage of the peroxide bonds and rearrangement of the resulting radicals. In addition to most damage to lipids and proteins, ROS is known to react with DNA/RNA, oxidizing its bases, leading to the formation of DNA adducts, chains, and DNA-cross links. If not repaired, this can eventually lead to mutations and genomic instability that can be responsible for disease development.

Our study shows the differentiation behavior of U-937 cells under exogenous supplementation of ascorbic acid. During the process of cell differentiation, it has been observed that there is a higher expression of NADPH oxidase complex, which eventually can be hypothesized with the increase in the production of ROS. Based on our previous study, we observed a higher expression of NOX-4 in differentiated U-937 cells [16]. There might be a direct/indirect role of ROS in the activation of NADPH expression and eventually self-oxidation.

#### 5. Conclusions

Prooxidative vs. antioxidative action of ascorbic acid (vitamin C) was evaluated in relation to differentiation of U-937 cell line into macrophages. Analysis of protein modification using anti-malondialdehyde antibodies showed changes in more than one protein. The findings demonstrate the relationship between the differentiation of U-937 cells into macrophages and the protein modification caused by the production of ROS under the influence of ascorbic acid together with a switch from pro-oxidative to the antioxidant property of the compound under investigation. Findings from this study indicate ascorbic acid promotes differentiation of monocytes into macrophages underlying its role in immune response besides its antioxidant activity. Studies focusing on ascorbic acid role in differentiation and development have to be considered.

#### Funding

This work was funded by the European Regional Development Fund project "Plants as a tool for sustainable global development" (CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16\_019/0000827) and grant no. IGA\_PrF\_2023\_023 entitled "Current studies and research directions in general and molecular biophysics" of Palacký University.

#### CRediT authorship contribution statement

Ankush Prasad: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Validation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. **Deepak Rathi:** Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. **Michaela Sedlářová:** Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. **Renuka Ramalingam Manoharan:** Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. **Eliška Průdková:** Data curation, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. **Pavel Pospíšil:** Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing.



Fig. 5. A. Protein MDA adducts formed in U-937 cells treated with 0.1–10 μM ascorbic acid. This illustrates protein modification in U-937 cells that were differentiated for 72 h, visualized on blot with anti-MDA antibody. B. Quantification of protein bands from an anti-MDA blot by densitogram analysis.

#### Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrep.2023.101622.

#### References

- J. Du, J.J. Cullen, G.R. Buettner, Ascorbic acid: chemistry, biology and the treatment of cancer, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Rev. Canc 1826 (2) (2012) 443–457.
- [2] S.B. Nimse, D. Pal, Free radicals, natural antioxidants, and their reaction mechanisms, RSC Adv. 5 (35) (2015) 27986–28006.
- [3] A.M. Macan, T.G. Kraljevic, S. Raic-Malic, Therapeutic perspective of vitamin C and its derivatives, Antioxidants 8 (8) (2019) 36.
- [4] D.J.R. Lane, D.R. Richardson, The active role of vitamin C in mammalian iron metabolism: much more than just enhanced iron absorption, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 75 (2014) 69–83.
- [5] A.C. Carr, S. Maggini, Vitamin C and immune function, Nutrients 9 (11) (2017).
- [6] F.R. Ricaurte, T. Kewan, H. Daw, Scurvy: a rare cause of anemia, Cureus 11 (9) (2019).
- [7] D. Njus, P.M. Kelley, Y.J. Tu, H.B. Schlegel, Ascorbic acid: the chemistry underlying its antioxidant properties, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 159 (2020) 37–43.
- [8] N.N. DePhillipo, Z.S. Aman, M.I. Kennedy, J.P. Begley, G. Moatshe, R.F. LaPrade, Efficacy of vitamin C supplementation on collagen synthesis and oxidative stress after musculoskeletal injuries A systematic review, Orthopaedic J. Sports Med. 6 (10) (2018).
- [9] G.N.Y. van Gorkom, R. Wolterink, C. Van Elssen, L. Wieten, W.T.V. Germeraad, G. M.J. Bos, Influence of vitamin C on lymphocytes: an overview, Antioxidants 7 (3) (2018).
- [10] N.Y. Li, G.J. Zhao, W.L. Wu, M.X. Zhang, W.Y. Liu, Q.F. Chen, X.Q. Wang, The efficacy and safety of vitamin C for iron supplementation in adult patients with iron deficiency anemia A randomized clinical trial, JAMA Netw. Open 3 (11) (2020).
- [11] J.M. Pullar, A.C. Carr, S.M. Bozonet, M.C.M. Vissers, High vitamin C status is associated with elevated mood in male tertiary students, Antioxidants 7 (7) (2018).
- [12] R. Jarisch, D. Weyer, E. Ehlert, C. Koch, E. Pinkowski, P. Jung, W. Kähler, R. Girgensohn, W. Hemmer, A. Koch, Influence of orally taken vitamin C on histamine levels and motion sickness, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 127 (2) (2011) AB261. AB261.
- [13] A. Phaniendra, D.B. Jestadi, L. Periyasamy, Free radicals: properties, sources, targets, and their implication in various diseases, Indian J. Clin. Biochem. 30 (1) (2015) 11–26.
- [14] S. Di Meo, T.T. Reed, P. Venditti, V.M. Victor, Role of ROS and RNS Sources in Physiological and Pathological Conditions, Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity 2016, 2016.

- [15] R. Radi, Oxygen radicals, nitric oxide, and peroxynitrite: redox pathways in molecular medicine, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 115 (23) (2018) 5839–5848.
- [16] A. Prasad, R.R. Manoharan, M. Sedlářová, P. Pospíšil, Free radical-mediated protein radical formation in differentiating monocytes, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22 (18) (2021) 17.
- [17] P. Pospíšil, A. Prasad, M. Rac, Mechanism of the formation of electronically excited species by oxidative metabolic processes: role of reactive oxygen species, Biomolecules 9 (7) (2019).
- [18] A.C. Chan, K. Tran, T. Raynor, P.R. Ganz, C.K. Chow, Regeneration of vitamin E in human platelets, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (26) (1991) 17290–17295.
- [19] A.C. Chan, Partners in defense, vitamin-E and vitamin-C, Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 71 (9) (1993) 725–731.
- [20] B. Poljsak, Z. Gazdag, S. Jenko-Brinovec, S. Fujs, M. Pesti, J. Belagyi, S. Plesnicar, P. Raspor, Pro-oxidative vs antioxidative properties of ascorbic acid in chromium (VI)-induced damage: an in vivo and in vitro approach, J. Appl. Toxicol. 25 (6) (2005) 535–548.
- [21] A. Gegotek, E. Skrzydlewska, Antioxidative and anti-inflammatory activity of ascorbic acid, Antioxidants 11 (10) (2022).
- [22] C. Sundstrom, K. Nilsson, Establishment and characterization of A human histiocytic lymphoma cell line (U-937), Int. J. Cancer 17 (5) (1976) 565–577.
- [23] C.R. Nascimento, N.A.R. Fernandes, L.A.G. Maldonado, C. Rossa, Comparison of monocytic cell lines U937 and THP-1 as macrophage models for in vitro studies, Biochem. Biophy. Rep. 32 (2022).
- [24] M.H. Dreyling, J.A. MartinezCliment, M. Zheng, J. Mao, J.D. Rowley, S. K. Bohlander, The t(10;11)(p13;q14) in the U937 cell line results in the fusion of the AF10 gene and CALM, encoding a new member of the AP-3 clathrin assembly protein family, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 93 (10) (1996) 4804–4809.
- [25] J.W. Fu, Z.Y. Wu, J.F. Liu, T.F. Wu, Vitamin C: a stem cell promoter in cancer metastasis and immunotherapy, Biomed. Pharmacother. 131 (2020).
- [26] A. Ang, J.M. Pullar, M.J. Currie, M.C.M. Vissers, Vitamin C and immune cell function in inflammation and cancer, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 46 (2018) 1147–1159.
- [27] W. Strober, Trypan blue exclusion test of cell viability, Curr. Protoc. Im. 111 (2015). A3.B.1-A3.B.3.
- [28] W. Chanput, J.J. Mes, H.J. Wichers, THP-1 cell line: an in vitro cell model for immune modulation approach, Int. Immunopharm. 23 (1) (2014) 37–45.
- [29] A. Prasad, M. Sedlářová, A. Balukova, A. Ovsii, M. Rac, M. Krupka, S. Kasai, P. Pospíšil, Reactive oxygen species imaging in U937 cells, Front. Physiol. 11 (2020).
- [30] T. Starr, T.J. Bauler, P. Malik-Kale, O. Steele-Mortimer, The phorbol 12-myristate-13-acetate differentiation protocol is critical to the interaction of THP-1 macrophages with Salmonella Typhimurium, PLoS One 13 (3) (2018).
- [31] P.S. Lim, C.R. Sutton, S. Rao, Protein kinase C in the immune system: from signalling to chromatin regulation, Immunology 146 (4) (2015) 508–522.
- [32] M. Musashi, S. Ota, N. Shiroshita, The role of protein kinase C isoforms in cell proliferation and apoptosis, Int. J. Hematol. 72 (1) (2000) 12–19.
- [33] A. Karlsson, J.B. Nixon, L.C. McPhail, Phorbol myristate acetate induces neutrophil NADPH-oxidase activity by two separate signal transduction pathways: dependent or independent of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, J. Leukoc. Biol. 67 (3) (2000) 396–404.
- [34] J. Prousek, Fenton chemistry in biology and medicine, Pure Appl. Chem. 79 (12) (2007) 2325–2338.
- [35] H. Qiao, J.M. May, Macrophage differentiation increases expression of the ascorbate transporter (SVCT2), Free Radic. Biol. Med. 46 (8) (2009) 1221–1232.
- [36] A. Diederich, H.J. Fründ, B. Trojanowicz, A. Navarrete Santos, A.D. Nguyen, C. Hoang-Vu, C.R. Gernhardt, Influence of ascorbic acid as a growth and differentiation factor on dental stem cells used in regenerative endodontic therapies, J. Clin. Med. 12 (2023) 1196.

# **Supplementary dataset 1**



**Figure S1:** Protein MDA adducts formed in U-937 cells treated with 0.1-10  $\mu$ M ascorbic acid. This illustrates protein modification in U-937 cells that were differentiated for 72 h, visualized on blot with anti-MDA antibody.

# Supplementary dataset 2



**Figure S2:** Quantification of MDA in non-differentiated (control) and differentiated U-937 cells (72 h, 1 and 5  $\mu$ M AA) monitored by the reverse-phase HPLC. The retention time of MDA-DNPH derivative was at 5.8 min.

#### Experimental protocol used is briefly mentioned below:

The total amount of MDA was assessed through reverse-phase HPLC analysis, following the procedure outlined by Pilz et al. (2000). In summary, HPLC-grade water (LC-MS grade) was added to the fraction samples to reach a total volume of 200  $\mu$ l. To release MDA from proteins via alkaline hydrolysis, 40  $\mu$ l of 6 M aqueous sodium hydroxide was added and incubated at 60 °C for 30 minutes. Proteins were precipitated by acidifying the sample using 100  $\mu$ l of 35% (v/v) perchloric acid, followed by centrifugation at 16,000 g for 10 minutes. The supernatant (125  $\mu$ l) was transferred to a new Eppendorf tube, and MDA was derivatized by adding 1  $\mu$ l of 50 mM 2,4-dinitrophenyl hydrazine (DNPH) prepared in 2 M sulphuric acid and incubated at RT for 30 minutes. A 50  $\mu$ l volume of the derivatized MDA was injected into the HPLC (Alliance e 2695 HPLC System, Waters, Milford, MA, U.S.A.) equipped with a 2998 Photodiode Array (PDA) detector. The isocratic separation was carried out using an Arion ASTRA® C18-HE HPLC column (3.0  $\mu$ m 150 mm × 4.6 mm) (Chromes s. r.o., Prague, Czech Republic) with acetonitrile: water (50:50 v/v) as the solvent system and a flow rate of 1 ml min<sup>-1</sup>. The MDA-DNPH derivative was detected in the samples at 310 nm with the PDA detector. Operation and data processing were performed using Empower software.